Building No. 10, 12th Floor, Tower-C
BSR&Co. LLP DLF Cyber City, Phase - Il

Gurugram - 122 002, india
Chartered Accountants Tel: +91 124 719 1000

Fax: +91 124 235 8613

ndepencent Auditors Report

To the Members of Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited (the
“Company”) which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2024, and the statement of profit and loss
(including other comprehensive income), statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policies and
other explanatory information, in which are included the separate financial statements of restaurant
business acquired from Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited (hereinafter referred to as
"component”) for the period beginning from 10 August 2023 to 13 March 2024 (hereinafter together
referred to as financial statements).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and based
on the consideration of the report of the other auditor on separate financial statements of the component
for the period from 10 August to 13 March 2024 as were audited by the other auditor, the aforesaid
financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) in the manner so
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in
India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2024, and its profit and other comprehensive
income, changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. e are independent of the
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the
provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained
by us along with the consideration of report of the other auditor referred to in paragraph (b) of the “Other
Matters” section below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the financial
statements.

Management's and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in Section
134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs, profit/ loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the
Indian Accounting Standards (ind AS) specified under Section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also
includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for
safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give
a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management and Board of Directors are responsible for
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

assessing the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

+ |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

»  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible
for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial confrols with
reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

»  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Management and Board of Directors.

»  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management and Board of Directors use of the going concern
basis of accounting in preparation of financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

+  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

»  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the separate financial statements of the
component of the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. For the component
included in the financial statements, which has been audited by other auditor, such other auditor
remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit carried out by them.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. Our responsibilities in this regard are further
described in paragraph (b) of the section titled “Other Matters” in this audit report. '

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

safeguards.

Other Matters

a. The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 were audited by the
predecessor auditor who had expressed an unmodified opinion on 17 August 2023.

b. We did not audit the separate financial statements of the component included in the financial
statements of the Company whose financial statements reflects total assets (before consolidation
adjustments) of INR Nil as at 31 March 2024, total revenue (before consolidation adjustments) of INR
115.88 million and net cash flows (before consolidation adjustments) amounting to INR (5.19) million
for the for the period beginning from 10 August 2023 to 13 March 2024, as considered in the financial
statements. The separate financial statements of the component has been audited by the other
auditor whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion in so far as it relates to the amounts
and disclosures included in respect of the component and our report in terms of sub-section (3) and
(11) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid component, is based solely on
the report of such other auditor.

Our opinion on the financial statements, and our report on the Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements below, is not modified in respect of this matter with respect to our reliance on the work
done and the report of the other auditor.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 (‘the Order”) issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, based on our audit and on the
consideration of report of the other auditor on separate financial statements of the component, as
noted in the ‘Other Matter’ paragraph, we give in the “Annexure A" a statement on the matters
specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

2 A. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of report of the
other auditor on separate financial statements of the component, as noted in the "Other Matters”
paragraph, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

a. We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

b. In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of those books, except for the following:

i. the back-up of books of accounts and other relevant books and papers in electronic mode was
not maintained on the servers physically located in India on a daily basis with respect to
accounting software used for maintaining-

— revenue accounting during 1 April 2023 to 15 July 2023,
— procurement and general ledger during 1 April 2023 to 26 March 2024; and
— general ledger accounting during 1 Aprit 2023 to 23 August 2023

ii. in the absence of sufficient and appropriate reporting on compliance with the back up
requirements in the independent auditor's report of service organisation in relation to payroll
process operated by third party service provider, we are unable to comment on whether the back-
up of books of accounts and other relevant books and papers in electronic mode relevant to the
said process was maintained on the servers physically located in India on a daily basis for the
period from 1 December 2023 to 31 March 2024.

ii. matters stated in the paragraph 2B(f) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

The balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows dealt with by this Report are in
agreement with the books of account .

In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under Section
133 of the Act.

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 01 April 2024 taken
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2024
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

The qualification relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith
are as stated in the paragraph 2A(b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) and paragraph
2B(f) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate
Report in “Annexure B".

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of

the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of the report of the other
auditor of the component, as noted in the “Other Matters” paragraph:

a.

The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations as at 31 March 2024 on its financial
position in its financial statements - Refer Note 28A to the financial statements.

The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there
were any material foreseeable losses.

There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.

d (i) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in

(iD)

the Note 39 (vi) to the financial statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested
(either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the
Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”),
with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall
directly or indirectly lend or invest in ather persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever
by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or
the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in
the Note 39 (vii) to the financial statements, no funds have been received by the Company from
any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding,
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall directly or indirectly, lend or
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the
Funding Parties (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf
of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(iiiy Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the

circumstances by us and that performed by the auditor of the component whose financial
statements have been audited under the Act, nothing has come to our or other auditor notice that
has caused us or the other auditor to believe that the representations under sub-clause (i) and
(i) of Rule 11(e), as provided under (i) and (ii) above, contain any material misstatement.

The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year.

Based on our examination which included test checks, and based on the consideration of the
report of the other auditor on separate financial statements of the component, except for the
instances mentioned below, the Company and its component has used accounting softwares for
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

maintaining its books of accounts, which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and
the same has operated throughout the period for all relevant transactions recorded in the
respective softwares:

In the absence of sufficient and appropriate reporting on compliance with the audit trail
requirement in the independent auditor's report of service organisation from 1 December 2023 to
31 December 2023 and in the absence of independent auditor’s report in relation to controls at
the said service organization from 1 January 2024 to 31 March 2024 for an accounting software
used for maintaining the books of account relating to payroll process of the Company, which is
operated by third-party software service provider, we are unable to comment whether audit trail
feature for the said software was enabled and operated throughout the year for all relevant
transactions recorded in the software.

The feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled at the database level to log
any direct data changes for one of the accounting software used for maintaining the books of
account relating to revenue, procurement and general ledger accounting of the Company.

In case of one of the accounting software used by the Company for maintaining the books of
account relating to revenue, the feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled
at the database level to log any direct data changes and the audit trail (edit log) facility was not
available at the application level throughout the year.

In case of component, the feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled in the
accounting software for the period from 1 April 2023 to 6 February 2024.

Further, for the periods where audit trail (edit log) facility was enabled and operated for the
respective accounting softwares, we did not come across any instance of the audit trail feature
being tampered with except that in case of one of the accounting software used by the Company
for maintaining general ledger, for the period 1 April 2023 to 6 February 2024, due to limitations
in the system configuration, we are unable to comment whether there were any instances of the
audit trail feature being tampered with.

C. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor’'s Report under Section 197(16) of the Act:
In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and based on the
consideration of the report of the other auditor on separate financial statements of the component,
the Company has not paid any remuneration to its directors during the year. The Ministry of Corporate
Affairs has not prescribed other details under Section 197(16) of the Act which are required to be

commented upon by us.

ForBSR & Co.LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No.:101248W/W-100022
Ankush Goel
Partner
Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAl UDIN:24505121BKGXDN1410
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March

2024

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

() () {A) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative

0]

(ii) ()

(iii)

(b)

(©

(d

(e

(b)

@

details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment.
The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has a regular programme of physical verification
of its Property, Plant and Equipment by which all property, plant and equipment are verified once
in three years. In accordance with this programme, all property, plant and equipment were
verified during the year. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification is reasonable
having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. No material discrepancies
were noticed on such verification.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the title deed of immovable property disclosed in the financial
statements are held in the name of the Company. However, original title deed is under lien with
banks for the loan facilities availed by the Company. Therefore, we could not verify those title
deed. However, we have received independent confirmation from security trustee.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment
or intangible assets or both during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there are no proceedings initiated or pending against the
Company for holding any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property
Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder.

The inventory, has been physically verified by the management during the year. In our opinion,
the frequency of such verification is reasonable and procedures and coverage as followed by
management were appropriate. No discrepancies were noticed on verification between the
physical stocks and the book records that were more than 10% in the aggregate of each class
of inventory.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not been sanctioned any working capital limits
in excess of five crore rupees in aggregate from banks and financial institutions on the basis of
security of current assets at any point of time of the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ii)(b) of the Order
is not applicable to the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not provided guarantee or security or granted
any advances in the nature of loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, limited liability
partnerships or any other parties during the year. The Company has made investments in
company during the year, in respect of which the requisite information is as below. Further, the
Company has granted loans to companies during the year. The Company has not made any
investments, granted any loans to firms, limited liability partnerships or any other parties during
the year.

Based on the audit procedures carried on by us and as per the information and explanations
given to us the Company has provided loans to companies as below:

Ao
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

(b)

(©

Particulars Loans
(in INR millions)

Aggregate amount during the year

— Fellow subsidiaries - 68.20

Balance outstanding as at balance sheet date

— Fellow Subsidiaries - 86.15

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the audit procedures
conducted by us, in our opinion the investments made during the year and the terms and
conditions of the loans granted are, prima facie, not prejudicial to the interest of the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in the following cases of loans given, in our opinion there is no
stipulation of schedule of repayment of principal and payment of interest. These loans are
repayable on demand and the same are overdue for repayment and hence, the repayment is
not regular:

Name of the entity Amount Remarks, if any
(in INR millions)

Duet India Hotels Private | 86.01* These loans are repayable
Limited on demand

*Gross of provision for doubtful foans- INR 86 01 millions

Further, in case of interest free loans where there is no stipulation of schedule of repayment of
principal, we are unable to comment on the regularity of repayment of principal, as these are
repayable at the option of the borrower.

Name of the entity Amount Remarks, if any
(in INR millions)

Duet India Hotels (Chennai) | 15.06 These loans are repayable
Private Limited at the option of the borrower
Duet India Hotels 22.29

(Chennai OMR) Private

Limited

Duet India Hotels | 8.50

(Ahmedabad) Private Limited

Further, the Company has not given any advance in the nature of loan to any party during the year.

(d)

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there is no overdue amount for more than ninety days in respect
of loans given except an amount of INR 86.01 millions (principal amount) and INR Nil (interest)
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March

2024 (Continued)

overdue for more than ninety days as at 31 March 2024. In our opinion, reasonable steps have

not been taken by the Company for recovery of the principal and interest.

Further, in case of interest free loans granted, amounting to Rs. 45.85 millions (balance as at
31 March 2024) to various companies (details provided below), the schedule for repayment of
principal have not been been stipulated, as these are repayable at the option of the borrower
and accordingly we are unable to comment on the amount overdue for more than ninety days.

Name of the entity

Amount
(INR in millions)

Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited 15.06
Duet India Hotels 22.29
(Chennai OMR) Private Limited

Duet India Hotels (Ahmedabad) Private | 8.50
Limited

Further, the Company has not given any advance in the nature of loan to any party during the year.

(e) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in our opinion following instances of loans falling due during the
year were renewed or extended or settled by fresh loans:

Name of the Aggregate amount Aggregate overdue | Percentage of the
parties of loans or advances amount settled by aggregate to the
in the nature of renewal or extension total loans or
loans granted during or by fresh loans advances in the
the year granted to same nature of loans
(INR in millions) parties granted during
(INR in millions) the year
Duet India Hotels | 9.50 7.06 43%
(Chennai) Private
Limited
Duet India Hotels 42.40 12.69 23%
(Chennai  OMR)
Private Limited
® According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination

of the records of the Company, in our opinion the Company has not granted any loans or
advances in the nature of loans either repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or
period of repayment except for the following loans to its related parties as defined in Clause (76)
of Section 2 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”):.

A
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vii) (a)

(b)

Particulars Related Parties
(INR in millions)

Aggregate of loans/advances in nature of loan
- Repayable on demand (A)

- Agreement does not specify any terms or period of Repayment (B) = HE
— 4585

Total (A+B) 45.85

Percentage of loans to the total loans 53%

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not provided any guarantee or security as
specified under Section 185 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act"). In respect of loans given
by the Company, the provisions of Section 185 of the Act have been complied with. The
Company has complied with Section 186(1) of the Act. According to the information and
explanations given to us, the provisions of Section 186 (except for sub-section (1) of the Section
186) of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable to the Company since the Company is
engaged in the business of providing infrastructural facilities.

The Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are deemed to be deposits from
the public. Accordingly, clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Central Government has not
prescribed the maintenance of cost records under Section 148(1) of the Act for the services
provided by it. Accordingly, clause 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company does not have liability in respect of Service tax, Duty of excise, Sales tax and
Value added tax during the year since effective 1 July 2017, these statutory dues has been
subsumed into GST.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in our opinion amounts deducted / accrued in the books of
account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including Goods and Services Tax, Provident
Fund, Employees' State Insurance or Cess or other statutory dues have been regularly
deposited by the Company with the appropriate authorities, though there have been slight
delays in few cases of Tax Deducted at Source.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Goods and
Services Tax, Provident Fund, Employees' State Insurance, Income-Tax, Duty of Customs or
Cess or other statutory dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2024 for a period of more than six
months from the date they became payable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, statutory dues relating to Goods and Services Tax, Provident
Fund, Employees' State Insurance, Income-Tax, Duty of Customs or Cess or other statutory
dues which have not been deposited on account of any dispute are as follows:

Ab
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

(viii)

(ix) (a)

(b)

(©)

(@

(e)

®

) (@

(b)

(xi) (a)

(b)

Name of the Nature of the Amount (in Period to Forum where
statute dues INR millions) which the dispute is
amount relates pending
Income Tax Act, | Income tax 58.73 AY 2016-17 CIT(A)
1961
Income Tax Act, | Income tax 17.71 AY 2017-18 CIT(A)
1961

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transactions,
previously unrecorded as income in the books of account, in the tax assessments under the
Income Tax Act, 1961 as income during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans and
borrowing or in the payment of interest thereon to any lender.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any
bank or financial institution or government or government authority.

According to the information and explanations given to us by the management, the Company
has not obtained any term loans during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ix)(c) of the Order is not
applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the procedures performed by us, and
on an overall examination of the balance sheet of the Company, we report that the Company
has used funds raised on short-term basis aggregating to INR 981.38 million for long-term
purposes.

According to the information and exptanations given to us and on an overall examination of the
financial statements of the Company, we report that the Company has not taken any funds from
any entity or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its subsidiary as defined under
the Act. The Company does not have investment in associates and joint ventures.

According to the information and explanations given to us and procedures performed by us, we
report that the Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities held in
its subsidiary (as defined under the Act). The Company does not have investment in associates
and joint ventures.

The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer or further public offer
(including debt instruments). Accordingly, clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private
placement of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures during the year. Accordingly, clause
3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

Based on examination of the books and records of the Company and according to the
information and explanations given to us, no fraud by the Company or on the Company has
been noticed or reported during the course of the audit.

According to the information and explanations given to us, no report under sub-section (12) of
Section 143 of the Act has been filed by the auditors in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under Rule
13 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government.
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

(©

(xi)

(xiii)

(xiv) (a)

(b)

(xv)

(xvi) (a)

(b)

(€)

(d)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints received by
the Company during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is nota Nidhi Company.
Accordingly, clause 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of public limited company and accordingly the
requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 177 of the Act are not applicable to the
Company. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and on
the basis of our examination of records of the Company, transactions with the related parties
are in compliance with Section 188 of the Act where applicable and details of such transactions
have been disclosed in the financial statements as required by the applicable accounting
standards.

in our opinion and based on the information and explanations provided to us, the Company does
not have an Internal Audit system and is not required to have an internal audit system as per
Section 138 of the Act.

in our opinion and based on the information and explanations provided to us, the Company does
not have an internal audit system and is not required to have an internal audit system as per
Section 138 of the Act. Accordingly, clause 3(xiv)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons connected to its directors
and hence, provisions of Section 192 of the Act are not applicable to the Company.

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by
the Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not part of any group (as per the provisions of the Core Investment Companies
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016 as amended). Accordingly, the requirements of clause
3(xvi)(d) are not applicable.

The Company has not incurred cash losses in the current and in the immediately preceding
financial year.

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year. Accordingly, clause
3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable.

We draw attention to Note 34 to the financial statements which explains that the Company has
incurred losses in current year and has accumulated losses as at 31 March'2024. Further, the
Company’s current liabilities exceed its current assets as at 31 March 2024 by INR 984.32.

The Company has obtained support letter from the Holding Company for providing operational
and financial support for atleast one year from the date of signing off the financial statements.

On the basis of the above and according to the information and explanations given to us, on
the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and
payment of financial liabilities, our knowledge of the Board of Directors and management plans
and based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come
to our attention, which causes us to believe that any material uncertainty exists as on the date
of the audit report that the Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date
of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet
date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of the Company.
We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and
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BSR&Co.LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period of
one year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the Company as and when they
fall due

(xx) The requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 135 are not applicable to the
Company. Accordingly, clauses 3(xx)(a) and 3(xx)(b) of the Order are not applicable.

ForBSR & Co.LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

Anbuot Jindd

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24505121BKGXDN 1410
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024

Report on the internal financial controls with reference to the aforesaid financial
statements under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

(Referred to in paragraph 2(A)(g) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Duet India Hotels
(Hyderabad) Private Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 2024 in conjunction with our audit of the
financial statements of the. Company for the year ended on that date which includes internal financial
controls with reference to financial statements of the restaurant business acquired by the Company
(hereinafter referred to as the ‘component).

In our opinion and based on the consideration of the report of the component on internal financial controis
with reference to financial statements of the component as was audited by the other auditor, the Company
has maintained, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements as at 31 March 2024, based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the “Guidance Note™) and except for the possible effects
of the material weakness described in “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of our report below on the
achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company’s internat financial controls with
reference to financial statements were operating effectively as of 31 March 2024.

We have considered the material weakness identified and reported below in determining the nature,

timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of 31 March 2024 financial statements of the Company,
and the material weakness do not affect our opinion on the financial statements of the Company

Basis for Qualified Opinion

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit and based on the
consideration of the report on internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the
component as was audited by the other auditor, the following material weakness has been identified in
the operating effectiveness of the Company's internal controls with reference to financial statements as
at 31 March 2024.

The Company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in respect of General
Information Technology Controls (GITCs) and automated Information Technology (IT) Application
Controls over the Company’s Opera application software used in one of the business of the Company (not
being the business acquired by the Company) were not operating effectively as at 31 March 2024. This
could potentially result in understatement / overstatement of revenue from operations in the Company's
financial statements.

A ‘material weakness' is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial control with
reference to financial statements, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Management’s and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s Management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining
internal financial controls based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the
Guidance Note. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of
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BSR &Co. LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note
and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to
an audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements. Those Standards and the
Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements were established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material
respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the auditor of
the component in terms of their report referred to in the Other Matter paragraph below, is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements include those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Other Matter

Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of
the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Company insofar as it relates
to the component, , is based on the corresponding report of the auditor of such component for the period
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels'(Hyderabad) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

10 August 2023 to 13 March 2024.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

ForBSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

Anbush, sk

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24505121BKGXDN1410
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Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101 HR2008PTC046360

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2024

(All amounts are in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Financial assets
Investments
Loans
Other financial assets
Income tax assets (net)
Other non-current assets
Tatal non-current assels

Current assets
Inventories
Financial assets
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other bank balances
Loans
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Equity share capital
Instruments entirely equity in namre
Other equity

Total equity

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilites
Borrowings
Other non-current liabilities
Provisions
Total non- current liabilities

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Trade payables
- total outstanding dues of micro enterprises
and small enterprises
- total outstanding dues of creditors other than
micro enterprises and small enterprises
Other financial liabilities
Other current liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The notes from note | to note 43 form an integral part of these financial statements

As per our report of even date attached

For BSR& Co.LLP
Chartered Acconnmants
ICAI Firm Registration No = 101248W/W-100022

W freh

Ankush Gael
Pariner
Membership No : 505121

Place: Gurugram
Date 29 May 2024

Directol
DIN: 07886515

Note

5(a)
5(0)
5(c)

9(a)
9(b)
9(c)
9(d)
9(e)
10

11 (a)
11 (b)
12

16(a)
16(b)

16(c)
17
18

Place Gurugram
Date 29 May 2024 Date 29 May 2024

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

1,144 51 1,206 97
052 132
53093 752,50
. 069
4067 112
15.06 590
% 445
1,731.69 1,982.95
163 766
2627 3278
6923 69.61

2028 .

42.05 0.02
1052 096
47.60 31.72
217.58 142.75
1.949.27 2.125.70

220,

49.90 49.90
1,626.52 1,626.52
(1.475.21) (299 64)
201.21 1,376.78
51164 508.62
3253 4092
1.99 3.00
546.16 552.54
3294 5539
029 073
5096 5297
1,065.00 14 47
3512 3527
17.59 3755
1,201.90 196.38
1,748.06 748.92
1.949.27 2.125.70

Simranj e:lngh

DIN 08083337

For and on behalf of Board of Direcrors of
Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

At

Place Gurugram

Place Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

N e do~

Company Secretary
Membership No : 57538



Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046360

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

For the year ended For the year ended
Note 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Income
Revenue from operations 19 638.96 523.16
Other income 20 36.16 13.17
Total income 675.12 536.33
Expenses
Cost of materials consumed 21 57.68 4594
Employee benefits expense 22 85.29 61.71
Other expenses 23 27243 228.36
415.40 336.01
Earnings before finance costs, exceptional items, depreciation and
amortisation and tax 259.72 200.32
Depreciation and amortisation expense 24 71.65 75.47
Finance costs 25 5248 95.26
124.13 170.73
Earnings before exceptional items and tax 135.59 29.59
Exceptional items 26 752.50 -
(Loss)/profit before tax (616.91) 29.59
Tax expense 6
Current tax - -
Deferred tax - (0.03)
- (0.03)
(Loss)/profit for the year (616.91) 29.62
Other comprehensive income
ITtems that will not be reclassified to profil or loss
- Re-measurement gains on defined benefit obligations 2] 1.93 0.13
- Income tax relating to items mentioned above - (0.03)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 1.93 0.10
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (614.98) 29.72
(Loss)/Earnings per equity share (Face value of INR 10 each) 27
Basic (INR) (5.36) 0.26
Diluted (INR) (5.36) 0.26
The notes from note | to note 43 form an integral part of these financial statements.
As per our report of even date attached
For BSR & Co. LLP For and on behalt of Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

[CAI Firm Registration No,: 101248W/W-100022

A'M LA gIMTJQ' Q'k]!"\ N{ Hla gm

Ankush Goel afiul N Latta Simranjeet Singh Nitika Jain

Puartner Director Director Compuny Secretary
Membership No.: 509822 DIN: 07886515 DIN: 08083337 Membership No.: 57538
Place: Gurugram Place: Gurugram Place: Gurugram Place: Gurugram

Date: 29 May 2024 Date: 29 May 2024  Date: 29 May 2024 Date: 29 May 2024



Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046360

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in INR millions, unless otherwise siated)

A. Cash flows from operating activities

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

(Loss)/profit before tax (61691) 29.59
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 71,65 75.47
Provision for impairment of investment in subsidiary 752.50 -
Net loss on discard of property, plant & equipment 0.33 225
Provision for bad and doubtful debts 7.54 0.76
Provision/ liabilities no longer required written back (1541) (1.77)
Govermnment grant income (7.04) -
Finance costs 5248 89.03
Interest income (4.32) (1.24)
Amortisation of non-refundable security deposit (9.39) (9.87)
Loss on foreign exchange fluctuation (net) 0,05 531
Others = 0.45
Operating cash flows before movement in assets and liabilities 231.48 189.98
Decrease / (increase) in inventories 7.04 (337)
Decrease / (increase) in trade receivables 2728 (6.30)
(Increase)/ decrease in other financial assets (2.63) 0.08
(Increase)/ decrease in other assets (15.76) 2.16
(Decrease) / increase in trade payables (41.00) 18.31
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities 8.12 2.34)
(Decrease) / increase in provisions (7.99) 1.61
Increase in other financial liabilities 0.64 4.67
Cash generated from operations 207.18 204.80
Income taxes (refunded)/paid (net) (8.88) 0.20
Net cash generated by operating activities (A) 198.30 205.00
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (3.85) (14.29)
Intercorporate loans provided (40.28) 8.62
Intercorporate loans received back 0.69 -
Interest received 0.44 1.23
Bank deposits matured 38.00 12.81
Bank deposits made (91.20) -
Net cash (used in)/ generated from investing activities (B) (96.20) 8.37
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of long term borrowings (0.73) -
Repayment/(proceeds) from short-term borrowings - net (24.66) 24.66
Repayment of intercorporate loan - (9.50)
Payment of processing fees and other ancillary borrowing cost - (26.80)
Capital contribution on behalf of the parent company received 22.04 12.00
Capiral contribution on behalf of the parent company paid (27.00) (79.00)
Distribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company - paid (27.10) (23.63)
Distribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company - received back 1.00 10.16
Finance costs paid (46.52) (60.95)
Net cash used in financing activities (C) (102.97) (133.06)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (0.87) 60.31
Cash and cash equivalents acquired pursuant to BTA (refer note 32A) 0.49 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 69.61 9.30
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 69.23 69.61

Notes to statement of cash flows
Components of cash and cash equivalents

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Cash on hand 022 0.15

Balances with banks

= In current accounts 69.01 25.06
69.23 69.61

Ay




Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046360

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounis are in INR millions, unless otherwise siated)

ii. Movement in financial borrowings

Opening Balance

Changes from financing cash flows

Repayment/(proceeds) from short-term borrowings - net
Repayment of long term borrowings

Repayment of intercorporate loan

Payment of processing fees and other ancillary borrowing cost
Finance costs paid

Other non cash changes
Finance costs expense

Closing Balance

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

564.01 568.03
(24.66) 24.66
(0.73) =
. (9.50)
- (26.80)
(46.52) (60.95)
5248 68.57
544.58 564.01

iii. The Cash Flows from operating activities section in Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared in accordance with the 'Indirect Method' as set out in the Ind AS 7

"Statement of Cash Flows"

The notes from note 1 to note 43 form an integral part of these financial statements

As per our report of even date attached

For BSR& Co.LLP
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration No.: 101248W/W-100022

A dodh

Ankush Goel
Parmer

Membership No.: 509822

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

aful/N Lacta
Director
DIN: 07886515

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

G Af»!h

Simranjcet Singh
Director
DIN: 08083337

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

Pifika A
Nitika Jain

Company Secretary
Membership No.: 57538

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024



Duct India Hotels (Hyderahad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101 HR2008PTC046360

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al amounts are i INR nulhons, unless othernvise stated)

a.  Equity share capital

Particulare Numbicr of shares Amnuant

As at 01 April 2022 4.990.000 49.90

Changes in equity share capital during the year - -

As at 31 March 2023 4,990,000 49.90

As at 01 April 2023 4,990,000 49.90

Changes in cquity share capital during the year - -

As at 31 March 2024 +4.990.000 49.90
b. Tnstruments entirely equity in nature

Panieulars. Numher Amuunt

C ily Cunvertible C ative Preference Shares (CCCPS)

As al 01 April 2022 38.112.902 38113

Changes during the year = 3

As at 31 March 2023 39,112,902 3R1.13

Changes during the year

As at 31 March 2024 38,113,902 IH1.13
Fully Compulsory Convertible Debentores (FCCD)
As at 01 April 2022 124338 827 124539
Chunges during Lhe ycar = -
As at 31 March 2023 124,538 827 1,245.39
Changes during Lhe year = =
As at 31 March 2024 124,534,827 1,245.39
¢.  Other equity {refer note 12)

Particulars Amalgamation Capital Reicrves and surphus Total

adjustment deficit account|  contributivn on | Securities g i Diateibution to carmings Remcasurement of

behalf of the parent fellaw subsidiaries defined bencfit plans
company on behalf of the
pa reet Elﬂ“nﬂll!

Balance as at 01 April 2022 - 83.85 408.87 (6.28) (825,78) - (249.34)
Profit for the year - - - - 2962 - 29.62
Other comprehensive loss tnel of 1ax) = - = - - a.lv 0.10
Total comprehensive income - - - - 29.62 .10 29.72
Transferred to relained camings - - - - 010 {0 1) -
Other resene a - - - 045 - 0.45
Additions dunng the year - 12 00 - (23 63) - - (11.63)|
Repayment dunng the vear - (79.00) - 1016 - -
Balance as at 31 March 2023 - 16.85 498.87 (19.75) (795.61) - (299.64))
Loss for the year - - - - {616 91)] - {616.91)
Other comprehensi e loss (nel of ax) - - - - - 1.93 1.93
Total comprchensive loss - - - - (616.91) 123 (614.98)
Transferred to retained carnings - - - - 193 (1.93); -
Acquisilion during the year (refer note 32A) (+59.41) - - - {70 12), - (529.53)
Additions duning the vear - 2204 - 27 10) - - (5.06)
R during the year = (27 00) - 100 - - {26.00)
Balancc as at 31 March 2024 (45941 11.89 49547 (45.45) (1.490.71) - (1475.21)

The notes from note 1 o nolc 43 form an integral part of (hese financial statements
As per our report of cven dalc auached
For BSR & Co, LLP

Chariered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration No : 101248 W/W-100022
Anlush Gocl

Partner

Membership No 509822

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

#or and on behalf of Board of Direclors off
Duet India Hotels Hyderabail) Private Limited

Simranject Singh
Director

DIN. 07886515

Place: Gurugram
Dalc 29 May 2024

DIN' 08083337

Place: Gurugram
Dale: 29 May 2024

N e 4~

Nitika Jain
Company Secretary
Membership No 57538

Placc: Gurugram
Dale 29 May 2024



Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046360

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

la(i) Corporate information

1a(ii)

A.

Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited ('the Company') was incorporated on June 25, 2008
under the Companies Act, 1956. The Company is primarily engaged in acquisition, development,
operation and management of Hotels in India.

The Shareholders of the Company (“ACIC Mauritius 1” and “ACIC Mauritius 2”’) on 30 March 2023
had entered into a Share Subscription and Purchase Agreement with SAMHI Hotels Limited (“SAMHI”
or “Acquirer”) for conditional sale of their shareholding in the Company to SAMHI Hotels Limited
(“SAMHI” or “Acquirer”). During the current year, the transfer of shareholding has been executed on
10 August 2023, resulting in SAMHI being the holding company of the Company w.e.f. 10 August
2023.

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind
AS) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended from time to time

notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, (‘Act’) and other relevant provisions of the
Act.

The financial statements are approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 29 May 2024.

Details of the Company’s accounting policies, including changes thereto, are included in Note 2(a) and
Note 2(b).

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (INR), which is also the Company’s functional
currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest millions, unless otherwise indicated.

Basis of Measurement

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.

Critical estimates and judgments

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgments and estimates that affect the
application of Company’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income

and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognized prospectively.

A




Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046360

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties at the reporting date that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year is included in the following notes:
e Financial instruments - Note 31
e Measurement of ECL allowance for trade receivables and other assets — Note 31
o Assessment of useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets — Note 3 and 4
e Estimation of obligations relating to employee benefits (including actuarial assumptions) —
Note 22
e Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies: key assumptions about the
likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources — Note 28A
e Recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profits against which
deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilized - Note 6

E. Current/ Non-current classification

Based on the time involved between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realization in cash
or cash equivalents, the Company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle for determining
current and non-current classification of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet.

F. Measurement of fair values

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Company has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.
This includes a finance team of Holding Company that has overall responsibility for overseeing all
significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair values and reports directly to the chief
financial officer.

Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the
valuation techniques as follows:

» Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

« Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

« Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data as far
as possible. If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels
of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.
M
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2a. Material accounting policies
1) Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognized as an asset if, and only if it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably.

Items of property, plant and equipment (including capital-work-in-progress) are measured at cost, which
includes capitalized borrowing cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Freehold land is carried at historical cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties
and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates, any directly attributable
cost of bringing the item to its working condition for its intended use and estimated costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.

The cost of a self-constructed item of property, plant and equipment comprises the cost of materials and
direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the item to working condition for its
intended use, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which

it is located.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.
Transition to IndAS

The Company had elected to use the fair value of all the item of property, plant and equipment on the
date of transition i.e. 1 April 2021, and designate the same as deemed cost.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on cost of item of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual
values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in the

statement of profit and loss. Freehold land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative period are as

follows:
AL
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Asset Management’s estimate of Useful life as per Schedule II
Useful Life to the Companies Act, 2013
Building 10-56 years 60 years
Computers and accessories 3-6 years 3-6 years
Plant and machinery 3-15 years 15 years
Furniture and fixtures 5-10 years 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate. Based on technical evaluation and consequent advice, the management believes that its
estimates of useful lives as given above best represent the period over which management expects to
use these assets.

Depreciation on addition/ (disposals) is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e. from / (up to) the date on which
the asset is ready for use/ (disposed off).

2) Intangible assets
Recognition and measurement

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is recognized at fair value at the date of acquisition. An
intangible asset is recognized only if it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the asset
will flow to the Company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Following initial
recognition, other intangible asset, including those acquired by the Company in a business combination
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relates and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All other
expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill, is recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in
depreciation and amortization in Statement of profit and loss.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Category of assets Management’s estimate of Useful Life

Computer software 4-6 years

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate.
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3) Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial
liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

The Company’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less any attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest (‘EIR”) method.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is considered as a
prepayment and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, Loans and borrowings including
bank overdrafts

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through statement of profit and loss
are designated as such at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind AS 109 are
satisfied. For liabilities designated as FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes in own
credit risk are recognized in OCI. These gains/ loss are not subsequently transferred to statement of
profit and loss. However, the Company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. All other
changes in fair value of such liability are recognised in statement of profit and loss. The Company has
not designated any financial liability as at fair value through statement of profit and loss.

« Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Loans and Borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of profit and loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in statement

of profit and loss.
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Classification and Subsequent measurement
Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial assets is classified as measured at:
e  Amortised cost

FVOCI - debt investment;

FVOCI - equity investment;

FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its
business model for managing financial asset, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on
the first day of the first reporting period following the changes in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:
— the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as at FVTPL:
— the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis.
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Business model assessment

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is
provided to management. The information considered includes:

— the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale
of the assets;

— how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;

— the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed; and

— the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such
sales and expectations about future sales activity.

AL




Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U5S5101HR2008PTC046360

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not
considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets.

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the

Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the

financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash

flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable interest rate features;

- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and
at FVTPL losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial assets at | These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
amortised cost effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at | These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
FvOCl under the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are

investments at recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly

FVOCI represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net
gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not reclassified to profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as such
on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses,
including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
also recognised in profit or loss.
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Derecognition

Financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred
assets are not derecognized.

Financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire.

The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows
under the modified terms are substantially different. In such case, a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Balance Sheet
when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and
it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Modification of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets:

If the terms of a financial assets are modified, the Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the
modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this
case, the original financial asset is derecognized and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value.

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortized cost are not substantially different, then the
modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Company
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognizes the amount arising from
adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

Financial Liabilities:

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.
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Fully Compulsorily convertible debentures

The Company has issued fully compulsorily convertible debentures (FCCDs). As per the terms of
debenture agreement, each debenture will be converted into equity shares based on an agreed conversion
formula (fixed to fixed conversion). FCCDs are separated into liability (as applicable) and equity
components based on the terms of the contract. On issuance of the FCCDs, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount
is classified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it is
extinguished or converted. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to equity since conversion option
meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed to fixed classification.

Compulsorily convertible cumulative preference shares

The Company has issued Compulsory convertible Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCPS). As per the
terms of CCCPS agreement, each CCCPS will be converted into 1 equity share based as per the terms of
contract. These CCCPS are classified as equity since conversion option meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed
to fixed classification.

4) Impairment
A. Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and
debt securities at Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) are credit-impaired. A financial asset is
‘credit- impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit- impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not
consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, except
for the following, which are measured as 12 month expected credit losses
- debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
- other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over
the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses.
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Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum
contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Company considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward- looking information.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Company
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).

As a practical expedient, the Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance
on portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analyzed.

Presentation of allowance for expected credit losses in the balance sheet
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write- off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject
to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts
due.

B. Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each reporting date if there is any indication of
impairment based on internal/external factors. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest Company of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
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3)

The recoverable amount of an individual asset or Cash Generating Unit (CGU) is the greater of its
value in use and its fair value less costs to disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. They are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce
the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. In respect of other assets for
which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the Company reviews at each reporting
date whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Such
a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

Inventories

Inventories which comprises stock of food and beverages (including liquor), operating supplies and
stock-in-trade are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of inventories comprises all
costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventory to their present location and
condition. In determining the cost, first in first out (“FIFO”) method is used. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs to make the sale.
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6) Provisions (other than employee benefits)

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Expected
future operating losses are not provided for.

When the Company expects some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision will be
reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement is recognized when, and only when, it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is
treated as a separate asset.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Provisions are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.
7) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liability is a possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly withing
the control of the entity or a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. The
Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements.

Contingent Asset

Contingent asset is not recognised in financial statements since this may result in the recognition of
income that may never be realised. However, when the realisation of income is virtually certain, then
the related asset is not a contingent asset and is recognized.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.
8) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences relating to foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred in connection
with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction of an
asset which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use are
capitalized as part of cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period
in which they are incurred.
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9) Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services are classified
as short-term employee benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages, short-term bonus and ex-
gratia. The undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits to be paid in exchange for employee
services is recognised as an expense as the related service is rendered by employees.

Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plan — Provident fund and Employee state insurance

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specified
contributions and has no obligation to pay any further amounts. Provident fund scheme and employee
state insurance are defined contribution schemes. The Company makes specified monthly contributions
towards these schemes. The Company's contributions are recorded as an expense in the profit or loss
during the period in which the employee renders the related service. If the contribution already paid is
less than the contribution payable under the scheme for service received before the balance sheet date,
the deficit payable under the scheme is recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already
paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution due for services received before the
balance sheet date, then excess is recognized as an asset to the extent that the pre-payment will lead to
a reduction in future payment or a cash refund.

Defined benefit plan — Gratuity

The Company's gratuity scheme is a defined benefit plan. The present value of obligations under such
defined benefit plans are determined based on actuarial valuation carried out by an independent actuary
using the Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognizes each period of service as giving rise to an
additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final
obligation.

The obligation is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. The discount rates used
for determining the present value of obligation under defined benefit plans, are based on the market
yields on government securities as at the balance sheet date, having maturity period approximating to
the terms of related obligations.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognized in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income
and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognized immediately in the profit or loss as past
service cost.
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Other long-term employee benefits — compensated absences

The employees can carry-forward a portion of the unutilized accrued compensated absences and utilize
it in future service periods or receive cash compensation on termination of employment. Since the
compensated absences do not fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service and are also not expected to be utilized wholly within twelve
months after the end of such period, the benefit is classified as a long-term employee benefit. The
Company records an obligation for such compensated absences in the period in which the employee
renders the services that increase this entitlement. The obligation is measured on the basis of
independent actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method. Remeasurements as a result of
experience adjustments

and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the profit or loss.

10) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to a customer i.e. on transfer of control of the
goods or service to the customer. Revenue is net of indirect taxes and discounts.

Contract asset represents the Company’s right to consideration in exchange for services that the
Company has transferred to a customer when that right is conditioned on something other than the
passage of time.

When there is unconditional right to receive cash, and only passage of time is required to do invoicing,
the same is presented as Unbilled revenue.

A contract liability is recognized if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Company transfers the related goods or services and the Company is under
an obligation to provide only the goods or services under the contract. Contract liabilities are recognized
as revenue when the Company performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognized:
Room revenue, sale of food and beverages, recreation services

Revenue comprises room revenue, sale of food and beverages, recreation and other services relating to
hotel operations. Revenue is recognised upon rendering of the services and sale of food and beverages

which is recognised once the rooms are occupied, food and beverages are sold and other services have
been provided as per the contract with the customer.
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11) Recognition of interest income or expense

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

- the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If
the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

12) Foreign currency
Foreign currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Company
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions or an average rate if the average rate
approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
exchange differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

13) Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to set
off the recognised amounts, and it is intended to realise the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or
simultaneously.
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Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for
 temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that:
- is not a business combination; and
- at the time of the transaction (i) affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
(ii) does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences
* temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements
to the extent that the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
* taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable
temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognize a
deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the business plans in the Company. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized
or the liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets and they relate to income tax levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

14) Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with
any of the Company’s other components and for which discrete financial information is available.
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker (CODM)

Identification of segments
In accordance with Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments”, the operating segments used to present segment

information are identified on the basis of information reviewed by the CODM to allocate resources to
the segments and assess their performance.
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15) Earnings per share

Basic Farning Per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit (or loss) attributable to the owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted Earning Per Share

Diluted earings per share is computed by dividing the profit (considered in determination of basic
earnings per share) after considering the effect of interest and other financing costs or income (net of
attributable taxes) associated with dilutive potential equity shares by the weighted average number of
equity shares considered for deriving basis earnings per share adjusted for the weighted average number
of equity shares considered for deriving basic earnings per share adjusted for the weighted average
number of equity shares that would have been issued upon conversion of all dilutive potential equity
shares.

16) Investment in subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has power over
the entity, is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns by using its power over entity.

Power is demonstrated through existing rights that give the ability to direct relevant activities, those
which significantly affect the entity’s returns. Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost. The cost
comprises price paid to acquire investment and directly attributable cost.

17) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, balance with banks, demand deposits with banks and
other short-term highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less.

18) Measurement of earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and tax (EBITDA)

The Company has elected to present earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and
tax (EBITDA) as a separate line item on the face of the statement of profit and loss. The Company
measures EBITDA on the face of profit/ (loss) from continuing operations. In the measurement, the
Company does not include finance costs, depreciation and amortisation expense, exceptional items and
tax expense.

19) Exceptional items

On certain occasions, the size, type or incidence of an item of income or expense, pertaining to the
ordinary activities of the Company is such that its disclosure improves the understanding of the
performance of the Company. Such income or expense is classified as an exceptional item and
accordingly, disclosed in the financial statements.
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20) Share Capital

Equity shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity shares are recognised as a deduction from
equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction is accounted for in accordance
with Ind AS 12.

21) Business Combination

Business combinations (other than business combinations between common control entities) are
accounted for using the purchase (acquisition) method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
fair value of the consideration transferred, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange. The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement
of pre-existing relationships; such amounts are generally recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income. The cost of acquisition also includes the fair value of any contingent
consideration. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities & contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at fair value at the date of acquisition. Transaction costs incurred in
connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. The excess of the consideration
transferred over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those
amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as capital reserve as a gain on
bargain purchase, unless there is no clear evidence for the underlying reason for classification of the
business combination as a bargain purchase, in which case, it shall be recognised directly in 'Other

Equity'.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests 'share of subsequent changes in equity.

Business combinations between entities under common control are accounted at historical cost. The
difference between the consideration paid/received and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
transferred is recorded in the amalgamation adjustment deficit account, a component of other equity.

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the common control
are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; for this purpose, comparatives
are revised.
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22) Government grants and subsidies

2b.

Grants and subsidies from the government are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that (i)
the Company will comply with the conditions attached to them, and (ii) the grant/subsidy will be
received.

Export Promotion Capital Goods scheme

The grant or subsidy received to compensate the import cost of assets, subject to an export obligation
is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in ratio of fulfilment of associated export
obligations.

Changes in material accounting policies
Material accounting policy information

The Company adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendment to Ind AS 1) from 1 April
2023. Although the amendments did not result in any changes in the accounting policy themselves,
they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements.

The amendments require the disclosure of ‘material’ rather than ‘significant’ accounting policies. The
amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting
policies, assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific accounting policy information that users
need to understand other information in the financial statements.
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3 Property, plant and equipment

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Freehold Buildings Furnitures and Plant and machinery Computers and Total Property, plant and
land fixtures accessaries equipment

Gross carrying amount
Balance as at 01 April 2022 460.00 63632 5379 193.25 526 1,348.62
Additions during the ycar - 92 301 318 033 1246
Delctions during the year - - {3.19) (0 66) - (3.83)
Balance as at 31 March 2023 460.00 640.24 53.61 197.77 5.61 1357.23
Additions during the ycar - 271 380 081 074 806
Acquisition during the year (refer note 32A) - - 048 0lg - 0.66
DelcLions during Lhe year - - (0.74) (057) - (13D
Balance as at 31 March 2024 460.00 642.95 57.15 198.19 6.35 1,364.64
Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 01 April 2022 - 2724 1342 3318 4.21 7805
Depreciation charge for the year - 2747 1347 31.79 108 7381
Disposals/Adjustments = - 11.39) [[48] - L1600y
Balance as at 31 March 2023 - .71 25.50 64.76 5.29 150,26
Depreciation charge for the year . 28.09 13.61 291 024 70.85
Disposals/Adjustments - - u31) (047) - (028)
Balance as at 31 March 2024 - 82.30 38.60 93.20 553 220.13
Net carrying amount
Balance as at 31 March 2023 460.00 585.53 28.11 133.01 0.32 1,206.97
Balance as at 31 March 2024 460.00 560.15 1855 104.99 0.82 1,144.51

(a) Refer to nole 13 for information on property, plant and cquipment pledged as sccurity by the Company
(b) On transition to Ind AS. the Company has cleeted to use fair valuc of all items of property. plant and equipment as al 01 Apnl 2021 and designate the same as deemed cosl

4 Intangible assets

Reconciliation of ¢arrying amount

Computer safiware

Tatal

Gross earrying amount

Balance as at 01 April 2022 457 457
Additions during the year 012 012
Declctions during the ycar -
Balance as at 31 March 2023 4.69 4.69
Addiuons during the year - -
Delctions during the ycar % -
Balance as at 31 March 2024 4.69 4.69
Accumulated amortisation

Balance as at 01 April 2022 L7 171
Amortisation cxpense [or the year 1.66 1.66
Balance as at 31 March 2023 3.37 3.37
Amortisation cxpense for the year 0.80 .80
Balance as at 31 March 2024 4.17 4.17
Net carrying amaunt

Balance as at 31 March 2023 1.32 1.32
Balance as at 31 March 2024 0.52 0.52

) On transition to Ind AS. the Company has clected to use camying value of all items of intangible assets as at 01 April 2021 and designaie the same as decmed cost
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5 Non-current {inancial assets
Asat Asal
3(a) Investments in subsidiarics 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Non-current investments : Unquoted
Investment at cosl:
Investment in equity shares of subsidiarics
336,688 (31 March 2023 - 536,688) equity shares of Duct India Holels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited of INR 100 cach fully paid up 33592 33392
2.367.068 {31 March 2023 - Nil) equity shares of Ducl India Hotcls (Bangalore) Private Limited of INR 10 cach fully paid up 53093 .
In in deb s of subsidiaries
4,871,581 (31 March 2023 - 4 R71,381) debentures of Duct india Hotels {Navi Mumbai) Private Limited of INR 100 cach fully paid up 41638 416 58
Less: Accumalated impairment in the value of non-current investments
Provision for investment in Duct India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited (refer note 40} (752 50) -
0,93
Nen-Current 33093
Appregale amaunt of unquoted investments 330.93
5(h)  Non-current financial assets - Loans As at As at
(Unsecured, considered good) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

At amortised cost

To parties other than related parties

Inicreorporate loans 1o others partics {repayable on demand) 8601 R6 70
Less: provision for doubtful loans (86.01 (86.01)

- 0 69

5(c)  Non-current financial asscts - Others As at As at
(Unsecured, considered good) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Bank dcposits (due to mature afler 12 months from the reporting date)* 3542 727
Sccurity deposils 525 385

10,67 _ uaz

* including nierest acerued on fixed deposits INR 1.42 (31 March 2023 - INR 007)
# Includcs deposits under licn amounting to INR 34.00 (31 March 2023 - INR 7 20)

[ Tncome tax assets (nct) As at As al
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Tax deducted at source 590
5.90
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6

Tncome tax
A: The major components of income tax expense / (income) are
Recognised in profit or loss

Current tax
Deferred tax

Recognised in other comprehensive income
Income tax on other comprehensive income

B. Reconciliation of effective tax rate (tax expense and the profit ied by C y's

Loss before tax

Tax using the Company’s domestic lax rate

Tax Effect of:

Non recognition of deferred laxes on temporary difference

Brought Forward losses lapsed on account of change in shareholding
Others

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

003

0.03

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

Effective tax rate

C. Delerred tax assets / liabilities

Deferred tax assets

Carry forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation

Difference in carrying amount of borrowings as per books of accounts and as per Income Tax Act
Provision for employee benefits

Provision for investment impairment

Loss allowance for trade receivables

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets (net)

Deferred tax asset / (liability) recognised*

- (0.03)
- (0.03)
ic tax rate)
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Y Amount % Amount
(616951) 2959
2517 (155.26) 2517 745
(24 22) 149.44 260 077
(595) 3670 - =
5.0l (30.88) (2777 (8 22)
As at As at

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

11206 19213
080 003
243 082

221 48

26 88 2498
363.63 217.96
(121 20) (124.95)
(121.20) (124.95)
242.45 93.01

*As at year end, the Company has significant unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward business losses as per Income tax Act, 1961 Deferred tax assets have not been recogmised.
because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which entity can use the benefit therefrom
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D. Movement in temporary differences
31 March 2024

Net deferred tax asset

31 March 2023

Balance as at Deferred tax Balance as at
01 April 2023 differences 31 March 2024
(A) generated but not {C=A+B)
Particulars recognised during
the period
(B)
|Deferred tax assels
Carry forward losses and unabsorbed depreciaton 19213 (%0.07) 11206
Difference in earrying amount of bortowing between books of accounts and Incone tax Act. 1961 0.03 077 080
Provision for emplovee benefits 082 I 61 243
Provision for investment impairment 22148 221.48
Loss allowance for trade receivables 24 98 190 26 88
217.96 145.69 363.65
Deferred tax liahilities
Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets 124.95 | (37511 121.20 |
124.95 | (3.75) | 121.20 |
93.01 149.44 242.45

Net deferred tax asset

E. Tax losses and unabsorbed depreciation carried forward

Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised with expiry date are as follows

Unabsorbed depreciation

Balance as at Deferred tax Balance as al
01 April 2022 differences 31 March 2023
Particulars (A) generated but not (C=A+B)
recognised during
the period
[4:11
Deferred tax assets
(Carry forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation 204.65 (12.52) 19213
Difference in carrying amount of borrowing between books of accounts and Income tax Act, 1961 (0.17) 0.20 003
Provisian for employee benefits 045 037 082
Lass allowance for trade receivables 2479 019 24.98
229.72 (11.76) 217.96
Deferred tax liabilities
Property. plant and equipment and Intangible assets 137.48 (1253) 124 95
137.48 (12.53) 124.95
92.24 0.77 93.01

As at

31 March 2024

Amount
44524

As at

Expiry Period (FY)

Never expire

31 March 2023

Amount Expiry Period (FY)
Business loss 9717 2026-27
Business loss 48.67 2028-29
Unabsorbed depreciation 61756 Never expire
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9a)

Other non-current assets
(Unsecured, considered good)

Capilal advances

Inventories
(valued at lower of cost and nef realisable value)

Food and beverages

Stores and operating supplies

Liquor and wine

For current assels pledged against borrowings. refer note 13

Current Financial assets

Current financial assets - Trade receivables
(Unsecured)

Trade receivables

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

445

445

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

- 052
> 206
163 508
1.63 7.66

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

-Considered good 2949 25.97
-Credit impaired 17.09 13.24
Unbilled revenue *
-Considered good 047 681

47.05 46.02
Less Loss allowance (20.78) (13.24)

26.27 32.78
* Net of advance from customers INR 0335 (31 March 2023 - INR 8.69)
(a) The Company’s exposure to credil and currency risks. and loss allowances related to (rade receivables are disclosed in nole 31
(b) For receivables secured against borrowings. refer note 13
(c) Reler note 30 for receivables from related parties
Trade receivables ageing schedul
As at 31 March 2024

Qutstanding for following periads from date of transaction
Particulars Unbilled Revenue Lessthan6 | 6 months 1-2years| 2-3years More than 3 years Tolal
months 1 year
(i) Undisputed Trade receivables — considered good n47 2359 226 .34 097 113 29.96
(i) Undispuled Trade receivables — credit impaired = - 4.08 - - - 4.08
{in} Disputed Trade Receivables — credit impaired - - - - - 13.01 13.01
|Tnlu.l 047 13.59 6.34 1.54 0.97 14.14 47.05
As at 31 March 2023
Qutstanding for following periods from date of transaction
Particulars Unbilled Revenue Lessthamt'j [6 ';":'"lhs “|1-2years| 2-3years More than 3 years Total

(i) Undisputed Trade receivables — considered goad 681 3RS 1621 125 2.66 - 32.78
{ii} Undispuled Trade receir ables — credit impaired - - - 076 - - 0.76
{i) Disputed Trade Receus ables — credit impaired - - - - 1248 - 12,48
|Tol.aj 6.31 5.85 16.21 201 [ENE) - 46.02
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9{b)

%)

(d)

9e)

Current financial assets - Cash and cash cyuivalents

Ralances with banks

- In currenl accounts

- on deposiL accounts (with onginal maturity of 3 months or less)
Cash on hand

Current financial assets - Bank halances other than cash and cash equivalents above

Bank deposils (onginal maturity of more than 3 months but tess than 12 months)

= mcluding terest accrued on fived deposits TNR 0 2R (31 March 2023 -Nil)

Current finuncial assets - Loans
ilnsecured, considered good)

To refated parties

As at
31 March 2024

Asal
31 March 2023

69 0t 2506

2 4440
022 [L]
69.23 &40

Asat
31 March 2024

20 2R

Asat
31 March 2023

20.28
—_—

Asat
31 March 2024

Asul
31 March 2023

Intercorporale loan Lo related parbies * 4203 an

42 03 002

== =
* in¢ludes acerued interest amountng 1o INR 1 75 (INR -0 02)
Ingurpurate boan b related parties
L 3 arge
Particatans Loan amuunt as o Interest rate charged per annum Repuy ment Terms
31 March 2024 31 March 2033 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Duet India [lolels | Chenar OMR) Private Limiled T2E - 11 50% NA Repayable within 12 months [rom the dale of drawdown
et Iriia Dodels s Abmadabud | Private |ansaed 6U0 - 11 50% NA
Vhuct Dncdia 1 Batels { Chennanl Provate L immed 150 = 11 350% NA
Current financial assets - Others Asat Asat
(Unsecired, considered good) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Other recewvables? R -
Bank deposits (due to marure within 12 months (rom he reporung date)* 662 -
T.0an lo emplayees = 096

10.52 0.96
* ineluding nterest accrued on fixed deposits INR 0 22 (31 March 2023 - INR Nil)
# Refer note 30 lor recen ables from related parties
Other current asscts Asat Asal

(Unsecured considered gonds)

Advance lo supphers

StalT advance

Balance with statutory authonities
Prepand expenses

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

1720 207
035 d

2309 2200
696 763

47.60 31,72
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11 (a) Equity share capital
Authiriwed share capital

Fquity sharcs of INR 10 each
001% C 1ly C c

Tssued, subscribed and Mlly paid up
Equty shares of INR 10 cach

rence Shares (CCPS) of INR 10 cach

(a) Recanciliation of the equity shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of reparting year

Equity shares

At the beginning ol Lhe year
Add  Issued during the year
Balance at the end uf the year

{b) Rights, preferences and restriclions attached tn equity shares

Asat
31 March 2024
Number of shares Amnunt
16,990,000 16990
10,010,000 10010
57,000,000 00 570,00
4,990,000 4990
4,990,000 49.90
For the year ended

31 March 2024

Number of shares Amount
4,090 000 49 90
o 10,000 4

—_—e————

As al
31 March 2023
Number of shares Amount

16,990,000 169 %0
40.010,000 400 10

AT 00 B 0 S7n.on
4.990,000 4990
4,990,000 49.90

For the year ended
3] March 2023

Number of shares Amount

4,190,000 4990

4,990,000

The Company has only one class of cquity shares having the par value of INR 10 per share Fach halder of equiny share 1s enutled to one vole per share The cquity shares are enutled o recerve dividend as and when declared Tn the event of
liquidation of the Company. the holder of equity shares will be enutled o recenne remaining assels of the Company. afier distribution of all preferential amownts The distributon will be n proportion Lo the number of equity shares held by the

sharcholders

(<) Sharcs held by the Halding Company/entity haying signifieant influence

Nume of sharcholder

Equiry shares of INR 10 cach

SAMII Hotels Limuted. the holding company w e [ 10 August 2023
ACIC Mauritius 1. the holding company Ll 10 August 2023

ACIC Maunitius 2, enliy having significant influence ull 10 Angust 202,

3

(d) Details of sharchalders holding mare than 5% shares

Name of sharcholder

Equity shares of INR 10 cach

SAMHI Hotels Limited, the holding company w e [ 10 August 2023

ACIC Maurihs 1. the holding company il 10 August 2023
ACIC Mauritius 2. enuity huving sigmfieant influence il 10 August 2023

(e}Details of shares held by promaters

Asat 31 March 2034

As at
3] March 2024

Number of shares Amount
4.990,000 49 %
4.990.000 190
P Sy

Asat
31 Muarch 2024
Number of shares % of holding

4,990 0N0 LO0%

4, THLMID

100

T L i AL

As at
31 March 2023

Number of shares Amount
3,792,400 3792
1197.600 119
1,990,000 49.90

As at
31 March 2023
Number of shares % of holding

3,792 400 76%
1,197.600 24%
+4,990.000 1UE%%s

No. of shares ut the  Change during the

N of shares at the

% change during

SiNe Eromoien Name beglnning of the vear Avar el wl the sear “epliiaiShares the vear
1 SAMIN Votcls Limated - FCTIIT 4,990 00 [Ty 1%
2 ACIC Mauntius | 3792400 (3792.400) - 0% 1nu%%
1 ACIC Mauriyus 2 1.197 600 (1,197 60) . % lini%

As i 31 March 2023

No. of shares at the  Change during the

Nl shares at the

%% change during

] .
SIN Eromoter,Name beginning of the year year cnd uf the year %ajoftotal Shares the year
1 ACIC Maurius | 3,792,400 - 3792400 6% -
: ACIC Maurilius 2 1,197,600 . 1 197600 24% -

11 (b) Instruments entirely equily in nature

Equity Ce of C
Al the heginming of the year
Add Issucd during the year
Al the end of the year

ily Convertible C:

Equity C of Fully C
Al the hegining of the year
Add Tssued during the year
Al the end of the year

ity Convertihle

(@) Terms/rights uttached to Ci ily Convertible Cy lati

lative Preference Shares (CCCPS) of INR 10 cach

(FCCDs) of INR 10 cach

Preference Shares (CCCPS)

For the year ended
31 March 2024

Far the year ended
31 March 2023

Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
8112902 aR113 11290 3R1 13
38,112,902 381.13 38,112,902 38113

124538 827 1.245 39 124,538 827 124539
124,538,827 1,245 39 124,538 27 1,248 34

Cumulaine Dividend @ 0 01% per annum Each CCPS shall get converted at the option of the Company al any ime 1 cach case intw one vquity share ol INR 11 each afler 10 years bul not exceeding 13 years Jrom the date of 1ssue and any
accumulated unpard dis adend shall be paid at the ime of conversion No diadend shall acerue ani/ or shall be payable on the CCPS until the sad mstrument along with any accumulated disidend thereon 15 conterled into equity shares

Compulsirily Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS)
Name of sharehulder
Duet Tnda Flotels (Tune) Private Timited. fellow subsidiary

SAMII Llotels [umited the holding company w e 10 Augast 2023
ACIC Maunius 2 entity having sigmiticant mfuenee 01l 10 August 2023

b

Asal
31 March 2024

Asat
31 March 2023

24 AR7.N%% 244 87 24 487 0% 21487

13 623 806 136 26
- - 11 0nls K06 136 20
13 EENTELTH aN1.13




Duet India Hutels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2UDAPTCUH6360

Notes La the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(1} amounts are iy INR mithons, unless otherwise stated)

(b)Details of sharchulders hulding more than 5% Compulsorily Conyertible Preference Shares (CCPS) of the Company

Name ul sharehulder Asal As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
No %a of holding No. %a uf holding
SAMIT Hotels Luimited. the holding company w ¢ ['11 August 20123 13.623 806 36%
Duet India [Totels (Pune) Pmvate Limited. fellow subsidiary 24.487.096 64% 24,487.09% 1%
ACIC Mauritius 2. enlity having sigmficant influence ull 10 August 2023 = - 13 635 800 it
4112902 10045 I 112002 100%s

(c)Details uf Compulsurily Convertible Prefercnce Shares (CCPS) held by prumoters

As at 31 March 224

S No Promoter Name No. of shares at the  Change during the w Wl shared at the o4 of total Shares % change during

heginning of the year year end of the year the year
' Duct India Hatels (Pune) Private Limited 24,487,096 - 24,487,096 64% -
z SAMIT TTotels Limited - 13,625,806 13,625,806 36% 100%
i ACIC Maurttius 2 13,625,806 (13,623,806) . 0% -100%
As ul 31 March 2023
$No Pramoter Name No: nl.shdn.x atthe  Change during the w af sharcy ot the 4wl fetal Shares e changs during
beginning of the year year cid wf the vear the vear
i Duet India Tlotels (Pune) Private Timied 24.487.096 . 24 487 096 Bt -
2 ACIC Mauritius 2 13 625 806 - 13.625 806 6% -

Fully Compulsory Conyertlble Debentures (FCCDs) held by halding company/ entity having significant influence

As at
31 March 2023

Asat
31 March 2024

Namic af debenturehnlider

Number of Wiares Amarunt Number ul ha A

SAMIT IMotels Limnted, the holding company w ¢ [ 10 August 2023 124 538 327 1,24539 - -
ACIC Mauritius |, the holding company ull 10 August 2023 - - 113,656,027 1,136 36
ACIC Maunitus 2, entiy having sigm(icant inffuenee ull 10 Aupust 2023 - - 10 R82 R00 108 A3

!l-l_ml'l 1,245 39 124 535 527 3
Details of dehenturcholders halding more than 5% Fully Compulsory Convertihle Dehentures (FCCDs) of the Company
Name of debentureholder Asat Asal

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
No % of holding No %a of holding,
SAMITI otels [ imited, the holding company w e [ 10 Augusl 2023 124,538 827 100% . =
ACIC Maurtuus | the holding company Ul 10 August 2023 . : 113,656 027 9%
ACIC Maunitius 2. enuily having significant influence ull [0 August 2023 - o 10453 ikl e
7 1l'=I=ﬂ"\‘H 124,538 827 101k

Details of Fully Compulsary Canvertible Dehencures (FCCDs) held by promaters as at 31 March 2024

As at 31 March 2024

No_of shares at the

Change during the

No. of shares ot the

% change during

§ No. fEwmatteame heginning of the vear Near enil ol the year % aflols) Shazes the vear
[] SAMIUN Hoecle Limited . 124.53K K17 [REERLE b 100%
2 ACIC Mauntjus | 113,636,027 (113,656,027) - 0% -100%
¥ ACIC Maurilius 2 10,882,300 (10.882,800) - 0% -100%

As ut 31 March 2023

No. of shares al the

Change during the

N uf shares ai the

%o change during

. 5
S No. Prumoter Name beginning of th e e uf the yea % uf tolal Shares T
] 'ACIC Maurilius | 113.636.027 = 113,636,027 91 26% -
' ACIC Maurttius 2 1N RR2 800 3 10,882 300 B 74% -
“Details of Fully Cumpulsrily Convertible (FCCDs) Asal As at

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Fully Compulsurily Cunvertible Debentures (FCCDs)

34.462.200 131 March 2623 - 34 462 200 ol INR1D each (unsecurad ) (Nale 1) 34462 34462
5473234 (1) March 2023 - 5.473.234) o INR 10 cach (unsecured) {Note 2) 347 3473
14.973,683 (31 March 2024 - 14973 683) of INR [0 cach runsecured) (Note 3) 14974 14974
46,949,760 131 March 2023 - 46 949 760) of INR 10 cach iunsecured) (Note 4) 4695 4693
10,942 700 (31 March 2023 - 10942 700) of TNR 10 cach (unsceured) (Note 5) 109 43 10943

B34450 (31 March 2023 - 854,430} of INR 10 cach unsccured) (Nole 5) 854 854
10,882,800 (31 March 2 - 10.882 800) of INR 10 each (unsccured) (Note 1) 108 R3 108 83
1245.39 124539

Notes

FCCD af TNR 10 cach hasing a coupon rate of SBI 1 R plus 300 basis powls per annum were allotied on 17 Apral 2010 o DITT (Cyprus) SPV (No 6) Limited Fach FCCD shall get converted 1nia one cquily sharc of INR 10 each on maturaty
before |5 years from the date of 1ssue During the carlier years, 34,462 200 FCCD were transierred Lo ACIC Mauriuus | and 10,882,800 FCCT) were translerred to ACTC Maunitius 2 These FCCTY s do not carry any interest il the repayment of
Lerm Ioans from the hanks and financial institulion and accordmgly no interest 1s acerucd on these FCCD's ull 31 March 2024 These FCCTY's were transferred by DITT(Cyprus) SPY (No ) Timited 1o ACIC Mauritrus 1 on 31 March 2017 then
1o SAMIT Hotels Limited on 10 August 2023 with same Lerms and conditions

FCCD af INR 10 cach having a coupan rate of SAT buse rate plus 300 base pomts per annum were allotted an 6 April 2017 to Astya Asset Management Cayman [t 28 FCCID shall gt converted mto one cquity share of INR1) cach on
matunty belore 10 years (rom the date of issue. During the carher vears: 5473 234 FCCD were transferred 10 ACIC Maurttius 1 These FCCIY's do not earrs any interest bl the repayment of lerm loans from the banks and financial msututnn
and aceordingly no interest 1s acerued on tiese FCCIY's bl 31 March 2024 These FCCI)'s were Lransferred by Asiya Asscl Management Cayman Lumled 1o ACIC Mauntus | on December 29 2018 then to SAMIIT Hotels Limited an [0
Augusl 2023 with same lerms and condilions

FCCD of INR 10 cach having a coupon rate of SRI Rase rate phus 300 basis pomls per annum were allolted on 22 October 2018, 22 November 2048, 31 December 2018 5 February 2019 and | March 2019 29 FCCD shall get converted inlo
one equity share of INRIO cach an maturity on or hefore 30 Seplember 2028 These FCCIY's do nat carry any inlerest tll the repayment of Llerm loans from the hanks and financial institution and accordingly no iterest 1s acerued on these
FCCIYs ull 3) March 3024 These FCCDs have heen ransierred to SAMIT Tlotels [imited on 10 August 2023 with same terms and canditions.

FCCT) ol INR 10 each laving 4 coupon rate of SBI Base rale plus 340 basts pownls per annum were allulted an 13 May 2019 3 FCCD shall get converted o one equity share of INR 10 ieh on matunty un or before 30 Apnl 2029 These
FCCIY s do nat carny any interest it the repayment of term loans (rom the banks and financial mstitubion and accordmely no mterest 1s seerued on these FCCI's ull 31 March 2024 These FCCDs have been transferred Lo SAMIT Holels
Tamited on 11 August 2023 with same lerms and condiuons.

FCCD of INR 10 cach hating a eoupon rate af SHI Base rate plus 200 hasis poimts per annum were allotied on | Ocloher 2020 and 18 November 2020 3 FCCD shall get converted into onc equily share of TNR 10 each on maturity on or hefore
30 April. 2029 [hese FCCD s du not carry any wterest Wl the repayment ol tam leans from the banks and financual msttution and aecordingly no interest 1s acerued on these | CC's Ull 31 March 2024 These FCCDs huve beon transforred to
SAMII 1otels [united vn 10 August 2023 with same terms and conditions




Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046360

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounis are in INR millions, unless othenvise stated)

12

a)

b)

€)

d)

e)

Other equity As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Securities premium 498,87 498 87
Distribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company (45.85) (19.75)
Capital contribution on behalf of the parent company 11.89 16.85
Retained earnings (1,480.71) (795.61)
Amalgamation adjustment deficit account (refer note 32A) (459.41) -
(1,475.21) (299.64)
Securities premium As at As at

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Balance at the beginning of the year 498,87 498 87
Additions made during the year - -
Balance at the end of the year 498.87 498.87

Securities premium is received on issue of shares. It is utilized in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013

Distribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company# As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Balance at the beginning of the year (19.75) (6.28)
Additions during the year (27.10) (23.63)
Repayment during the year 1.00 10.16

Balance at the end of the year (45.85) (19.75)

#The company had granted inter-corporate loans to its fellow subsidiary companies. Since, these loans are interest free loans and also repayable at the
option of the borrower, hence these loans given to fellow subsidiaries have been recognised as a distribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent
company

Capital contribution on behalf of the parent company* As at As at

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balance at the beginning of the year 16,85 83.85
Additions during the year 22.04 12.00
Repayment during the year (27.00) (79.00)
Balance at the end of the year 11.89 16.85

*The company had obtained inter-corporate loans from its fellow subsidiaries. Since, these loans are interest free loans and also repayable at the option of
the borrower, hence these loans have been recognised as a capital contribution on behalf of the parent company.

Retained earnings As at As at

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balance at the beginning of the year (795.61) (825.78)
Acquition during the year (70.12) =
(Loss)/Profit for the year (616.91) 2962
Transferred from other comprehensive income 1.93 0.10
Other adjustment - 0.45
Balance at the end of the year (1.480.71) (795.61)

Retained eamings represent the amount of accumulated losses of the Company.

Other comprehensive income As at As at

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Remeasurements of defined benefit liability (net of tax) 1.93 0.10
Transferred to retained earnings (1.93) (0.10)
Balance at the end of the year - -

Remeasurements of defined benefit ltability comprises actuarial gains and losses

Amalgamation adjustment deficit account (refer note 32A) As at As at

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Additions during the year (refer note 32A) (45941 -
Balance at the year end {459.41) -

A




Puet India Iolels (1lyderatad) Private Limiled

CIN 15510 11IRZ008PTC046360

Notex ta the linanclal statemens far the year ended 31 March 2024
Il amounts are n INR eyihians, unlist othorniss statud)

13 Non-current inanclal liabillties - Rorrowings

Tam loans from band: {sceuredy

I ess cumrent manunues af ang-tcrm horrawings trefer note 16(a1)

a1 anks

\sat
31 March 2024

51458 50915
a1y IRl
51164 S08

Paetiaulars

Carrying \muunt as
un 31 March 2024
dnelyding interest

Carryng Amaunias |

o 30 Mareh 2023
fincluding interest.

Sanctioned
Amount

A1 Mok 3082

Ttarrsd vais charged par wewm

Asal
31 March 2023

31 March 2023

Indusind [hank Limted

[z

i

51163

968%

D30a[The laaw smaunt of CXW 9816 b impnnaba 0 2T Sermend tarm bean i sevwnd b

|
Serurnty Dutails |
|

arustured quarierly wnsallments, waih the first repayment
(fing ke st husiness iy of the st uancr of 2035 1 |1 First mortgsge and sharge on all immovable properuss of the Drrowes logether wath sl
%0 June 2025 and Joan ament of INR. 37 67 1 payable in|the stustures and appuricnsnces (harcom and thercunder whethar omried ar leascd (bath
et payment on 10 September 203 esent and future)
Dunng the wurren ycar, the borosangs wers dowtacll (6|2 First Charge by way of hypothesation on afl the current and Lngibls monable asets of the
e hank amoururg (0 INR 179 60 | Rorvowcr, meludmg but not hmited to cash flaws. recaivables mavable plan and machimery
| mactanery pares. tools and aeccssomer, furmiure, Gtures, vehudiss and 3l oiher movabl¢
| assets. bolh prescr and furure
¥ Fart charg by way of hypothecation am all sueren! avets and angilcs of the Rercamer
including but nat Iumited (6. book~lcbis, Recervablex, operaung cash flows. sommusssors
eventics of whatsoever nature, both prescnt and fulure
| Firsl cuarge by way of hypathocauon mer all accounts of the Borrawer and the Permuticd
lln\ﬁunnus {excliung the uvetmens made by the Company 10 Dust lndsa Mol (Na
ml‘“ﬂl Tarmlid o othir siimmtne
5 A nonwieposal undertaking aver 21 ®a (nwenty-one percent) of the Equiry Share Capaial
Prefience Share Captal and FCCDA held by prammier, frce frem amy Seeunty Tnlarot o
L— ] Patres wealntaty be O Sonton bindor apem
|6 Dledge over the Fuiy Share Camal ihe Preferance Stare Cpland h FCCDx bl
| Prom: any Seaunty Inierest,
|7 Sceumy by way of ums sollaerahcauon of cach flowa e by cach of thi
| Mypothecators (uct hidsa Tlotels (Panc) Prvate Lamuted. Duct Inda 1Hoiels fapar) Provate
| Famited. Thet (s Hoils (Chenas) Prrvate Tamited. Duct India Haiels (Channas OMR
| Provate | imutcd and DinetIndsa Hatele (Amedahad) Private L muted)

ANIs Nank [amuted

17

17980

At

The loan amount 1s repayahlc n 22 stuctured quarterly| fessred term bt is sl b i ol
instalimenis wih the Grst repayment falling aflce Laxt
husmess sy of the first yuarter of 2025 1 ¢ 0 June 2025

0 Vot movi g md dharye o s st o s Py degihor s 4
B e sad ety haroon nd ihorrsdar whidur snncd w buded e
[t dead titas )
ls r.ul‘hmh-ng o bt sl U it bbb s 1 e o tht
i bk b md bt b8 2ach Dot ssctrvablos seemhly jdom ond macluscn
by iparis kel sl mcssenri, Sawmre e Vi i smd ol aler skl
D
¥ Eienl chinps .t o i = ] ystent inan ol saghbas of i Ihisromss
ioladng bt ok Lested (i Bk odibtn. Meiernablin. sperating wiih flvan. sommsisioms
FovTmecs o mRabene 2 A e el gt it and Pt
1 Dt charga by of b pestiscstion eva 2 ocmens of S Mervenc sad O Prmetad|
B ot (indwe sy B maodizsi made By the Cormgann i It bads Vhatde {any)
-w-a-mnuv._n.-mm

A smdinpenal underisang eir 11 %o (Pramm s gtotnnh of the §ons Sharn Capral
min-..sur Prapetal amd | €7 Tia Beld by prommsiars, fete frvwm sy Nacmety Duincet )
o ol st sabaladtary 1o W Lamdirs Lamdy agom
& Pladga meir it 1'apeny Sary Capeal e Prafinimd Shass Cigatal-and ghe | OCTM ety
R e e S
T femen byons sl ome i of ssh fees ollind By s of B0
by st s 4§ Puet St Dboncte o Py Fervacs Lasind Thiet ks Dlaacts ¢ lacr ) Provan
o, Thoat Imin [t (i) v Eomaad Freac I Dkl 11 beian 47080
i vl amed st s oo Ahumistatiads Frivaci Limatady

el Tz Limsted {7 1343

2010

ETE

7 e

The loan amounl 1 repayahle 1n 48 stucnured monthly | Seimed morboy wigutal irms Rk Bl Hatlh £ 71 35 o0 ssmiacd Iy s of & bl B
malimen. with the it repayment falling diie om st e sy mmomteerncil devs
Navember 30_2023 i

b) The Company dd not have ar defsults n the repaymen afloans an snterest There has been no loan avenam defaulia dunmg the current year and there has hean no wnimation from the hanks for recalling any loan facility




Duct India Hatels {Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U535101 HR2008PTC046360

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
1l amounts are w INR midhons, unless otheriise stated)

14 Other non-current labilities Asal Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Non refundable security deposits™ 323 4092
3253 4092
* Refer nole |7 for current maturibies of seeurity deposits
15 Non current prinvisions Asal Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Provision far employee bencfits
Gratwry (refer note 22) 055 109
Compensaled absences (refer nole 22 144 191
199 3.00
16 Financial liabilities-Current
16(a) Current financial liahilitics - Borrowings As at Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Secured)
Overdrafl facthires from bank * - 24 66
Current matunties of long-lerm barrow ngs (refer note 13) 294 073
294 2339
Unsccured)
[ntercorporate loan from other parties (refir note 281) anon 3001
J0.00 3000
3294 5539
* Tncludes interest acerued amounting lo INR N1l (31 March 2023 - INR 0 14)
Canh credit and uverdrall facility fram banks
Ssneinned Amount Interent rate charged per annum = . ey -
Parthoulan {TNR Millians) 31 March 3034 T 31 March 023 Repayment Terms Security detaily
Trudaislnd Tank Lol 2500 925% 930%| Repayablc on demand | Same as mentianed i nole 13
16(h) Current financial liahilitics - Trade payables Asal Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Trade payables
- toal dues of micro and small (MSMT7) 029 07
- total oulslanding dues of creditors ather than micro enterprises and small enlerprises 50 96 5297
5125 53.70
{a) Refer note 35 for disclosures under Micro, Small and Medium IEnterpnises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED)
{h) Refer note 30 for related party halances
ic) The Company's expostre lo currancy and liquidity risks refated to trade payables 1s disclosed in nole 31
Trade payables aeing schedule
As al 31 March 2024
Ounstaniding fur fullowing period from due date ol
Particulars Accraed Eipenies Lws than | vear L-2 years 25 vrary Mure than 1 yvars Total
[{ns MAMEE - [[F4) - - - 0.29
b iy 5497 11k (TS} 181 5096
Total pERL S 1626 0,06 ni3y (K1} 5128
Asat 31 March 2023
L] lingy for fallowing periusl from due dute of i
Partieulars Accraed Expenies Ly than | vear 12 vears 2-3 wears Muire ihan 3 vears Total
S 071 . = = 073 |
207 RS o0 [k 3% 5.,
107 1758 .48 [ 1] 28 5370
The Company docs nol have any disputed ducs which are payahle as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023
16(c) Current financial liahilities - Others Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Employee refated pavables 1205 833
Pavable for capital assets 493 319
Interest acerued but and due on borrowings from other parties 093 09
Rusiness acquwsition constderaton payable (refer note 3241 516 14 -
Payable (or nvestment n subsubary (refer note 321) 33093 -
1,065.00 1447
* net of adjustment for cash and cash equvalents amounung Lo INR 1 23
17 Other current liabi Ay at Asat
31 March 2024 31 Murch 2023
Advance from customers 679 110
Deferred revenue un govenment grant (refer note 38) 1489 2193
Current maturities of non refundable security deposit 8NT 987
Statutory dues payahle 437 217
Othiers 020 020
3512 35.27
18 Current provisions Asal Asatl
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Provision for employee benclits
Grawty irefer nole 22) a6 003
Compensated absences (refer nole 22) 099 024
Provision lor conungency (reler note 3RY 1644 3728
17.59 3755
Maovement of provision for contingency
Openi alance 1728 1322
Proviston created dunng the year 020 2406
tJulisavon/ reversals duning the vear
2100 -
1644 37.28

Lloang hulanee

b




Duet Indin Hatels (Hyderabad) Private Limited
CIN: US5101 HR2008PTCH6360

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AHl amounts are m INR millions, unless atherwise stated)

19

21

22

Revenue from operatinns Fur the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Sate of services

- Room revenuc 47841 406 57
- Food and beverage revenue 98 83 5693
= Tiquor and wine 713 4230
- Recreauon and other services 24 59 1746
638.96 523.16

The contract hiabiliues primanily relate Lo the advance consideration recewved [rom customers for which revenue 1s recognized when the performance obligation 1s over/ services delivered
Advance collecuon 15 recognised when puyment 1s received before the related performance obligaton ts sabsficd  Tis icludes advances received (rom (he customer towards rooms /
restaurant/ banquels Revenue 1s d ance the per ¢ obligation 15 met 1 ¢ an room slay/ sale of fond and beverage / provision af banyuet services Excess of revenue over
nvoicing 1s recorded as unbilled revenue Revenue recogmised in the Stalement of Profitand Loss 1s same as the centracted price

Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Cuntract Liabilities
Advange fom caibimers 679 1o
The amount of revenue INR 1 09 (3] March 2023 TNR 0 33) recopmsed in the reporting penod was ncluded in the adyance from cuslomers balunce al the begimng of the period
Trude receivables 2627 3278
Note Considering Lhe nature of business of the Company. the above irade receivables is converted into cash willun the same operating cycle
Other income For the year cnded For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Irerest meome friwn (a4l anicts 2 amertuad oot
= on bank deposils 229 124
- on loan to refated party (refer note 30) 104 5
Government granl {refer nole 38) 704 -
Provisions/ habiliies na Tonger required writlen back 1541 177
Interest on income (ax refund 009 -
Miscellaneous income - n29
Amaoruzsation of norerefundable secunty deposit 939 9 A7
36.16 13.17
Cost of malerials consumed For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Cansumption of food and beverages
Inventory al the heginmng of the year 560 347
Add  Acquuiuon during the vear {refer nole 32A) 101 -
Add  Purchases duning the vear 5270 4807
[nventory at the end of the year {163) {560)
57.68 45.94
Employee benefits expense For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Salaries. wages and bonus ns 1613
Contnhuton Lo provident fund and other funds (refer 2’ below) 433 P
Compensaled absences (refer b’ below ) 044 146
Stall wel(are expenses. 757 1138
85.29 61.71

. Defined contribution plans

[he Company makes contnbutions, determined as a specificd percentage of employee salanus, 1n respeet of qualifying employees towards Provident Fund, Labour Welfare Fund and
Jimployees Stale Insurance, which are defined contribution plans The Company has no ohlizabens other tran to make the specified coniributions e contributions are charged Lo profit or
loss as they acerue The amount recogmsed as an expense lowards cantributon to Provident Fund, [ abour Welfare Fund and Fmployees' Stale Insurance for the year aggregated to TNR 4 53
(31 March 2023 - TNR 2 )

b, Compensated absences (ather than long term employce benefits)

The principal usedn g the obligation arc as given below
Asat Asal
Particalars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Ya %
Discounung rate p a 715 739
10 00

Salary growth rale pa 1000
Refer nole below lor mortality assumpuons




Duct Indiu Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CTN: U35101 HR2008PTC046360

Notes tu the finzncial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(.t amounts are m INR milhons, unless otherwise stated)

« Delined Benelic Plan

Gratuity

The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan Fyery employee who has completed five years or more of service gels a granuty on departure at 15 days salary (Jast drawn salary) for cach

completed year of service as per Payment of Granuty Act 1972 The scheme 15 nol funded

These plans (ypically expose e Company to actuarial risks such as investment nisk. inherent nlerest rale nsk - Tongeity nisk and salary risk

Invesmeni nsk

The present value of the defined benelit plan liability (denomnated in Indian Rupee) is calculated using a discount rate which is determined by reference to market yietds at the end of the

reporung period on government bonds

Interest rate nsk

The deined benelil obligauon calcwlated uses a discount rale based on government bonds 1f band yields fall. the defined benefit obligabon wall lend 1o increase

Longevity sk

The present value of the defined benefit plan habihty 15 calculated by reference to the best estmate of the mortality of plan participants both duning and ailer thewr employment. A increase n

the life expectancy of the plan parucipants will increase the plan's liability

Sulary sk
Iigher than expected increases in salury will increase the defined henefit oblhigation

“Lhe following Lables summaries Ui components of net benefit expense recognized i profiL or lass and amounts recognized w the Balance Sheet for the sud plan

u) Expense recognlsed in Statement of Profit and Loss

Particulars

Current service cosL

[nlerest cost

Total expenses recognised in the Statement af Profit and Loss

b) Remeasurements recognised directly in other comprehensive income
Parileulars

Net actuarial loss recognised in the year

- changes 1n demographic assumptions

- changes in financial assumpuons

- changes 1n expenence adjustments

Amuounl recognized in other comprehensive income

©) Change in present value of henefit abligation

Particulars

Present value of obligation as at the beginning of the year
Currenl service cosl

Interest cost

Acquisiion adjustment refer note 32A)

Actuanal gam)loss

Benefils pad

Present value of ohligation as at the cnd uf the year

d) Amounts to he vecognized in Balance Sheet

Particulars

Present value of the defined benefit nbligation al the end of the year
Funded status

Net liability recognized in the Balance Sheet

Non-vurrent
Current

€) The principal assumplions used in determining the gratuity benefit obligation are as given below

Particulars

Discounung rale pa (1
Salarv growll rate pa ()

For the yeur cnded
31 March 2024
0y
008
027

Fur the year ended
31 March 2023
033
003
060

For the year ended

For the year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
12y -
an3 w001
(0 R4} {012)
1.93) 0.13)

For the year ended For the year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
12 063
019 033
0us 005
125 -
(19%) 013)
071 1.12

Asat As at

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

(1) The discount rale is generally based upan the market yiclds avaulable on Government bonds at the accounting date with a lerm thal matches that ol the hiabihues
(1) The salary growth rale lakes account of nflation. sentonty. promotion and ather relevant factors on long term basis

Demographic assumptians

Relirement Age (years)
Moraluy Table

Withdrawal rates: Age related and pust experience
Ape

Upto 30 years

Between 31 and 44 years

Above 44 vears

L} 2
(0.71) (1.12)
55 L09
ni6 003
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Ya %
715 739
1000 10 00
As at Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
60 60
1hi ¥ 111%
TALM012.04) LALM (20
“o %o
R2% 15%
82% 15%
B2% 2%

The estimates of fulure salan ncreases: considered in actuarial valuation, takes account alnitauon, scnionty, pramotion and other relevant lactors, such as supply and demand in the

employment market

1y The Company hest esbmale o expense for the next vear 18 INR 0 22,31 March 2023 -INR 0 91)

A




Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046360

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in INR millions, unless otherwise stuted)

Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit
obligation by the amounts shown below.

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Increase * Decrease * Increase * Decrease *
Discount rate (0.5% movement) (0.01) 0.01 (0.04) 0.04
Salary growth rate (0.5% movement) 0.01 0.01) 004 (0.04)

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions
shown

* Positive amount represents increase in provision

*Negative amount represents decrease in provision

(The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 0.86 years (31 March 2023: 5.74 years)
Sensitivity changes due to withdrawal and mortality are not material and hence not disclosed

There was no change in the method and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years

g) Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Year
Oto 1 Year 0.16 003
1to2 Year 0.34 0.10
2to3 Year 0.07 0.09
3to4 Year 0.01 011
4to5 Year - 0.11
5to 6 Year - 009
More than 6 year 0.13 0.59

0.71 1.12
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Notes Lo the financial statements far the year ended 31 March 2024
1.1H amounts are i INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

pal

24

26

27

For the year ended
31 March 2024

Other expenses

Repair and mawnienance

Fur the vear anded
31 March 2023

- Building 231 27
- Machnery 750 731
- Others 428 10R2
Brand, heense and markeung fecs 8819 7474
Communication 235 222
Consumpuion of stores and supplics 2367 2039
Secunty Services 641 326
Contractual fabour 486 493
Prinung and stationery 402 201
Insurance ELix) 162
Lugal and profissional fees 122 1234
Loss on Jorcign exchange luctuation (net) 003 531
Loss on disposal of praperty, plant and equipment 03 215
Management and incenuve fecs 3n37 900
Payment to auditors ® | 68 S84
Power, fuel and waler LR 3214
Prirsuinst Do bl and skaabifil Solae 7 54 Q76
Rales and taxes 1443 1915
Travelling and conveyance 1025 463
Miscellancous expenses 1043 286
272,43 228 36=
*Payment to auditors {excluding taxes)
As Auditors
Statutory audit 148 195
Reimbursement of expenses 015 007
Other services. 005 182
168 ]
Depreciation and amartisation cxpense For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Depreciation of property. plant and equipment (refer note 3) 7085 7331
Amorusauon of ilangible assets refer nole 1) 0 80 1 66
71.65 1547
=i i
Finance costs For the year ended Fr the scar endeil
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Interest expense on financal liabilities carried at amartsed cost
- lonns {rom bank 5t79 6497
Tnlerest cost on government grant {refer nole 38) 020 24 06
Inlerest expense on delay in deposit of statutory dues - 2559)
Other finance costs 049 364
5248 95.26
Exceptional Ttems For the year ended For the year ended
31 Murch 2024 31 March 2023
Provision for impairment of investment in subsidiary irefer note 40} 752 50 -
752.50 -

(Lass)/earnings per share (EPS)

Tasic FPS s calculated by dividung the loss for the year attributahlc o equity sharcholders by the weighted average number of equty shares auistanding during the year
Diluted EPS 1 calculated by dividing the loss for the year altribulable to the equity sharchalders by weighicd average number of equity shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted

average number of equity shares thal would be 1ssued on conversion of all the diluuve polential equity shares mio equity shares

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 Murch 2023

Nel (lass Yearmngs aliributable Lo cquity shareholders {616 91) 2962
Weighled average numher of cquity shares autstanding during the year for caleulalion of'basic 'P$ 115,148,271 115,148271
Weighted av erage number of equity shares outstanding during the year for calculauon of diluted EPS 115148271 115,148 271
Nominal value of equity share (INR) 10 n
Basic (lossearmngs per share (INR} 1336) 026
Diluted (loss)earnings per share {INR) 15136) )26
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Reconciliation af net (loss)/profit artributable to equity sharcholders (basic carnings per share)
Net (loss¥prolit afler lax as per Statement of’ prolit and loss (61691) 2963
Net (1 1butable Lo equity sharchold 161 29,62
Calculation of weighted average numher of shares for basic and diluted carnings per sharc for the year ended 31 March 2024
Number Weighted Average

Equuy Shares 1.990 00D 4.990.000
Instruments entirely equity in puture
C sanly Ce ble Cumulauve Preference Shares 38 112902 B 112902
Tully compulsory convertible debentures 72.1145.369 72.045.369

115,148,271 115.148,27}
Calculution of weighted aversge number of shures for busic and diluted carnings per shure for the y ear ended 31 March 2023

Number Welahied Averuge

Equity Shares 4.990 000 EOCIREED
Instruments entirely equily in nature
C y C ble Cumulauve Preference Shares 3112902 IRE12.902
Fully compulsory convertible debentures 72 045 369 724043 369

115,146,271 115,148,271

[
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

28 A

28B

29

Contingent liabilities and commitments
(to the extent not provided for)
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Commitments
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and others, - 1.71
and not provided for

Contingent liabilities

The Company has received an assessment order for financial year 2016-17 whereby an addition of INR 4428 has been made to the total
income of the Company on account of certain disallowances under various sections of the Income Tax Act, 1961. The demand raised in this
regard is INR 17.71. The Company has filed an appeal before the Commissioner of Income-tax (Appeals) against the said addition which is
pending for disposal

The Company had received a demand letter for recovery of debt payable of INR 30.00 from the Insolvency Resolution Professional of
Ramprastha Sare Realty Private Limited in the earlier years, The Company had filed its response against the demand letter and there has been
no further update on this matter since then, Based on the internal evaluation , the management of the Company believes that no further liability
is expected to be incurred in this regard

Operating Segments

The Holding Company's Chief Executive Officer has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM') w.e.f 10 August 2023,
since he is responsible for all major decisions w.r.t. the preparation and execution of business plan, preparation of budget, planning, alliance,
merger, acquisition and expansion of any new facility. Till 10 August 2023, the Directors were identified as CODM. CODM has examined
the Company's performance from product and geographic perspective and has identified a single business segment ie. "Developing and
running of hotels", hence no specific disclosures have been made

a) Information about products and services
The Company primarily deals in one business namely "Developing and running of hotels", therefore product wise revenue disclosure is not
applicable

b) Information about geographical areas
The Company provides services to custorners in [ndia. Further, there are no non-current assets located outside India

¢) Information about major customers (from external customers)
The Company does not derive revenue from one customer which would amount to 10 per cent or more of the entity’s revenue




Duct India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046360

Notes to the financial statements for the year cnded 31 March 2024
1A amounts are i INR nullons, unless othervise siated)

30 Related party disclusures

a) Related party and naturc of related party relationship where control exists

Name of the Party

Agiva Capital Lvesimends Compaum, X §.C P (il 10 August 2023)

ACIC Manrits | il 10 Augest 303%)

SAMHI Hotels Limited tw .o 110 Augost 21255

ACIC Maunius 2 (0l 10 Atgust 2031y

Duet Indin Hotels (Banzalore) Private Limited {w e £ 29 February 1029)

Dt b Hotels (Navt Mumshay) Provate Lumied

| Same of the Pariy

Dt India Hetels (Chenrri) Private Limited

Duct India Hotels {Aluodatind) Private Linuied

Duiet I Fotels 1Clennas QMR Proue Limited

Dust India Hodcly iBangalors) Private Limited (ull 29 Febany: 1034)

Duet India Heels (Jaipur) Provate Linited

Dutt India Hotels (Pune) Brivaie Linited

Entitics under comman contral

ACIC Advisars Provase Limiied

«©) Related party transactions during the current year/previous year

Particulars

Holding Company Fellow Subsidiary / Subsidiary

31 March 1023

31 March 2024 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

| Management fees expenyes

ACIC Advisory Privaie Limied

- - 037 9.00

Lzl amd Professionad fevs

ACIC Advisary Provane Limed

Other opcrating revenue

Dnet India Holels (Banpalare) Privale Limied

- - 040 120

|Stadl welfare cxpenses

Duet India Hotels (Banpalore) Private Limiled

Food anil beverages consumed

Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Privale Limited

= = 1426 3376

Interenrporate loan repaidl to rebited purties
Buct Tndia Hotels (Jaipur) Privale Limied

Capital contribution on hehalf of the parent company (Reeeived)

Dieict Dndia Hotels (Pune) Provate Linited

Capital contribution an hehalf of (he parent eompany (Repaid)

Duct India Hatels (Pune) Private Limiled

= - 2700 4300

Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Privale Limited

= - - 3640

Loans

Intercorporate loan given to related parties

Ducl India Holels {Chennai) Private Limited

- - 150 -

Ducl [ndia Holels (Ahmedabad) Private Limiled

- - 610 =

Duct India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Privatc Limited

. - 32 30 =

Interest income on intercarporate loan to related parties

Duct Tndia Hotels (Chennan Privale Limied

- - 009 -

Dugt India Hotcls {Ahmedabad) Private Limited

035 -

Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Privale Limited

= - 151 =




Duct India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046360

Notes to the financia) statements for the year cnded 31 March 2024
Al amounts are in INR nnihons. unless otherwise siated)

Particulars

Holding Company

Fellow Subsidiary / Subsidiary

31 March 2024 31 March 1023

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Interearparaie bnan repaiid by related partics inef)

Dugt India Hotels (Chennai) Private Linuied

- 660

Interest re-paid on intercompany loan by related parties

Duet India Hotels (Chennan Private Limited

= 52

Duct Tndia Hotels { Ahmedabad) Private Limiled

Distribution b fellow subisidiaries on behalf of the parent campany - Given

Dot lidia Hosels (Chennan Prvare Limted

R 00 13 60

Duet Fndia Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limiled

9.60 1031

Duct India Hotels (Ahmedabad) Peivare Limited

950 -

Distribution (o fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company - Reccived back

Duct India Holels (Chennai) Privale Limited

- 10 16

Duet India Hotels tAhmedabad) Prisate Limited

Provision for impairment of inveatment

Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited

732 50 -

Dther current liahilities

- 047

530.93 =

316 14 =

330 9% -

SAMHI Hotels L imited

enses incurred on hehalf of ihe Campany by:

SAMHI Hotels Limited

:s incurred by the cumpany un behalf of annther company

Duet India Hotels (Bangalone) Private Limated

d) Relaled party balances as at year cnd

Particulars

Hul Crimy)

Felliw Suhyidiary

31 March 2023

31 March 2034 31 March 2023

Advance 1o soppliers

ACIC Advisory Prvate Linnied

13 64 110

Distrihntion {0 fellow suhsidiaries on behalf nf the parent eompany

Duet Tndia Hotels (Chennai) Privale Limited

13 00 T 06

Duct Tndia Hotels (Chennii OMR) Private Limited

22 30 12.69

Ducl India Hotels {Ahmedabad) Private Limited

830 -

Capital contribution on hehalf of the parent company

Duet lodia Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limiied

L oo 1o on

Duct Indizt Holels (Punc) Privale Limited

| %9 f 83

Trade receivable

Duct Indiz Holcls (Banpalore) Private Limied

B 013

Fully Compulsnry Convertible Dehentures (FCCDs)

ACIC Maunnws |

L 1136 36

ACIC Magniius 2

= 108 83

SAMHI Hotels Lissted

1.245 39 =

|Shnrt borm loans wnd adyances®

Duct 1india Hotels {Chennat) Privase Linnted

| 58 002

Duet India Hotels {Almedahad) Privalc Limited

631 -

Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

416 5

| Business scqubsition consideration payable

Duet Iudia Hotels (Bangalore) Private Linuted

36 14 -

Payahle fur investment in subsiiliary

|SAMHI Hotele Linuted

330.93 -

Other Reccivables

Duct India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

167 -

SAMHI Hotels Linnted

[KI0Y -




Duet Tndia Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046360

Notes (o the financial statements for the year endeil 31 March 2024
1Al amounts are im INR mnlhons, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars

Holding Company

Fellow Subs

ary / Subsidiary

31 Murch 2024

31 March 2023

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

Nna-current investments #

| Investment im equity shares

Duet India Hotels Navi Mumbai) Privaie Limited - - 9184 392 84
Duet Tndia Hotels {Bangalare) Private Limited - - 39 -
Investment in debentures

Duct India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Privale Limited - - 487 16 487 16

*Short lenn loans and advances tncludes accrucd interest receivable

# Excluding provision for impai of of INR &R0 00 (31 March 2023 [NR 127 50)

As al 31 March 2023, Asiya Capital Investments Company. Kuwail (the Ultimate Holding compamy il (0 August 2023). has given corporatc guaranice (o the lenders of the Company
against a borrowing [acility laken by the Compamy and its [ellow subsidiary companics The maximum cxposure of the ullimate holding company is INR 250 00

In addition te the ransactions mentioned above:

a) There is a sccurity by way of cross collatcralisation of cash flows offerred by Lhe Company in respect of borrowings oblained by its fellow subsidiaries from banks
b) Duct India Hotels {Punc) Privatc Limited has provided fixed deposit for an aggregate amount of INR 250 00 (plus capitalized inerest) to [ndusind Bank as licn

¢) Also refer Lo nolc 34
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simtements for the year ended 31 March 2024
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Nules to the financi

31 Financial instrumenis = Fair values and risk manapement
A) Financial instruments by category and fair value
The below table summarizes the judgements and estimates made 1 determimng the fur values of the financial 1nstruments that are (a1 rezopmised and measured at far value and (h) measured at amontsed cast and for which Jar

values are disclosed in the financial statements To provide an imdieation abeut the rehability af e 1nputs used m determining Fa value, the Company has elassified 0 financial insiruments o the three levels presenibed under the
accounting standard

31 March 2024
Level of lierarchy Fair Value Throsh Fair Value Thrush Oiher Amortised Cost
Prafit and 1 ass (FVTPL) |Compredienive Ineame (FVTOCT)]

Particulars,

Finandal aveis

Non-current (inancial assels - Others - - 34T
Current finansal asseis - 1 aans z = 205
Cetrenl linangaal svigte = Trads receniabiey - - 437
Cnrent fiancnsl siwrts « Caub and cash ey sl - - M
Cuarent (inancial asscts - Others - - i NE]
Total financial assets - 5 229,41

Financial liabilities

Nan-current
T 2 = . [T
Nywegtuniues Tnsvesal lub {Rhere 151
Clstreml fipassinal labsbibies - Trade pavabies - - 51 3%
Current financial liabilucs - Others = . [
| Todal fimancial labilithes - - [NIET
31 March 028
Tavel uf Vieracchy Fabr Value Through Fuir Valoe Through Other Amortised Cost

Tarticulars

Prafit and T ass (FYTPL) [Comprobensive Income (FYTOCT)!

Fimancial avwets

Non-currcok financral avects - Oibicrs - - [INE
i financial avws = [oane 3 = )
Coereat thnanasl ssuti- Trads - - 2N
Corgai faneisl snsets « Canb and caihy I - - i Al
Canieni fingncssl aesety » Lius Bu
Cimrent finanseal - = 0
Tieal finandial sseris - - [I5AL]
Financial lial
m 2 - - sl
Moo~urrent imansial Tabahiic s« Sibsiy Jna:
Cumign) timnceal luabalibres » Trade punables = = FTE)
Curnt finangsal liatsluties - Cthers - . 1447
Tisa! fimancial abilities s - 673.111

The management assessed that the far value of cash and cash cquivalents, other bank balances (rade receivables. secunty deposits margin money deposits unbilled revenue. trade and other pavables and
other current financial assets and habilives approsimate their carrving amounts largels due 10 the short-lerm matunties of these instruments

fnicrest rates un non-current borrowings [borrawings from banks) are equivalent to the market rate Such burrowings arc al llvaling rates which are reset al short intenvals: Accordingly, Lhe camryg value of such borrusings
approxmalcs far value

Fair valuation of non-curvent finanuial assets and habihues has been disclosed 10 be same as warrying value s there 15 no sigmificant difference between camying value and far salue
The company has nat done any hedging transactions durrng the year

B) Measurement of Fair values
There abe mo ranifer berween Levd 11 evel Dand Doved Viduneg the vear
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Notex to the linancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

(A anounis are i INR smihons, unfess otherwise stated)

€) Finandial risk management
Risk management framewark
The Company's acuvities expase i to.a vaniety of financial risks market sk tmeluding foreign exchange nsk and intgrest rate sk, eredit nak and liquidity nsk

The lalding Company s Chicf Finaneial Officer under the dircetions of the baard of directors wmplements financal nsk management poficics across the Compam The Campany s sk management palicics are established 10 dentfy
and analyse the msks faced by the Company. 0 set appropriate risk linuts and controls, (o momtor risks and adherence to limits w orler to mummize the Ginancial wmpact of sush noks The sk management policies and systems are
rersewed regularly Lo reflect changes 1n markel condutions and the Cumpany s actvities

i Market risk
Markel r1sk 15 the sk that the changes 1n markel prices such as foreign exchange rates and wnterest rates, that will affieet the Campany 5 expense or the value of 1 holdings of financial instruments The objective of market risk
management 15 to manage and control markel nsk exposures within aceeptable parameters while opumising the return

4 Interest rate risk

Interest rate nsk 15 the tsk thal the Far value or future cash ows of a financial mstrument will fluctuate because of changes m markel mierest rates The Company s exposre o the nsk of changes wn markel wnlerest rates relates
primanly la lhe Compmny s borrowings obligauons wath floaling inlerest rales

The Company cvaluates the interest rates yn the market on regular basis to explore the aplion of refinancing of the horrowings of the Company Morcover. majonity of the Campany’s berrowings are primanly linked to Mloatng intercst
tales. thereby resulling i the adjustments of ts borrawing vosts 1n line with the market interest

Expusure to interest rate risk
The following table: demonstrates the sensilivty (o a reasonably passible change tn 1nterest rates on that partion of loans and borrowings alfected With all other vanables held canstant, the Company's profit before tx 15 affecled
through the mpact on flnating rate borrowings as follows

Increas/ decrease in basi pulnts  Effect un profit (loss)

Particulas

befure tax
31 March 2024
Term Inans from banks and financial insututons 100hp 5 36)
Term Ioans from banks and linancial inshiwtions ~100bp 536
31 March 2023
Term Joans from financial insbtutions loobp 1534)
Term loans Jrom financral inshilubens =100bp 534
The assumed movement wn hasts pornis for the inierest rate scnsilwaly analyas 1s hased an the corrently abservable market showing 1 y igher volaubiry than i prior years

b. Currency risk

Currency nisk for the Company 15 the rsk thal the futare cash outflows nn account of payables for management fees and other cxpenditure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates The Campany 1s exposed ta the
effcets of fluctuation 1n the presathing forcign currency exchange mates on it financial postion and cash flows Exposure anses primanty due to exchange rate fluctuations bewween the funicuonal currency and other currenties The
Management cvabuates forergn exchange raic expasure ansmne from foreign currency transactions on penodic basis and follows appropmate nsk management pohcies

Expasure fo currency risk

The Company's exprsure Lo farcign currency nsk at the end of the reporting penod are as follows

31 March 2024 Currency Amount i foreign A in INR (in
cutreny {In million)

Financial liabilities

Trade payables usp TH 1030

31 March 2023

Currency Amismit in furrign
warreny tin millioes) miflians)
Financisl liabifines
usn 012 0ol

Trade payahdes
Forelgn currency semltiviey

The following Lables demonstrate the sensitivaly to 3 reasonahly possible change in USTY exchange rates with all nther vanables held constant The impact on the Company s pratit before (ax 15 due 10 changes in the farr value of

momatary Savtd amd Tl

Thange in FEltect an proflt (luss)
USD rate before tax
31 March 2024 100bp 1010)
-100bp 0l0
31 Murch 2023 100bp 01y
-100bp 010




Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounis are in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

ii. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails (o meet its contractual obligations The carymg amount of financial assels represent the maximum credit
nsk exposure The Company has credit policies in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis

The Company’s policy is to place cash and cash equivalents and other bank balances with banks and financial institution counterparties with good credit rating

The Company has given security deposits to various statutory authorities and to vendors for securing services from them and rental deposits for employee accommodations  Further, the Company has other receivable
balances outstanding as at year end from vendors against cost reimbursement The Company does not expect any default from these parties and accordingly the risk of default is negligible or nil

In respect of credit exposures from trade receivables, the Company has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before entering into contract Credit limits

are established for each d regularly and any sales exceeding those limits require approval from the appropriate authority

The Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents 11s expected credit losses in respect of trade receivables The management uses a simplified approach for the purpose of computation of expected
credit loss for trade receivables In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit characteristics, including whether they are an mdividual or legal entity, their geographical location,
indusiry and existence of previous financial difficulties, if any

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Company
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:
« the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full; or

« the financial asset is more than two years past due

The provision matrix used for determining loss allowance on trade receivables as at 31 March 2024 is 0-180 days' | 77%, 180-365 days 13 08%, 366-547 days 31 10%, 548-729 days 73 74%, >= 730 days: 100%

Reconciliation of loss allowance provision

For the year ended For the year ended

Trade receivables
Opening balance

Change in loss allowance
Closing balance

Loans

Opening balance

Change in loss allowance
Closing balance

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

(13.24) (12.48)
(7.54) (0.76)
(20.78) (13.24)

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

(86.01)

(86.01)

(86.01)

(86.01)

iquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset The Company’s approach
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurming unacceptable losses or risking

damage to Company’s reputation

M: itors rolling fc of the Company's liquidity position and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flaws to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs Such forecasting
takes into consideration the Company’s debt refinancing plans, undrawn committed borrowing facilities and covenant comphance

of the Company's short-term,

Ultimate responsibility for liqudity risk rests with the board of directors, which has established an appropriate liquidity risk k for the
medium term and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s fi ial liabilines based on ¢ ! und d pay
For the year ended 31 March 2024
Conrractual cash Nows
Carrying amount Total 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 3
yeurs
Non - derivative financial linbilities
Non-current borrowings 51164 532,05 - 3246 213 88 28571
Current borrowings 3294 3294 3294 - - -
Current Trade payables 5125 5319 5319 - - -
Other financial liabilities 1.097 53 1,097.53 1.097 53 - - -
1,693.36 1,715.71 1,183.66 3246 213.98 285.71
Contractual cash flows
For the year ended 31 March 2023 Carrying amount Total 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 5
years
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Non-current borrowings 508 62 534 99 - - 164 99 370.00
Current borrowings 55.39 5539 5539 - - -
Trade payables 5370 3370 5370 - - -
Other financial liabilities 5539 5539 14 47 987 31.05 -
673.10 699.47 123.56 9.87 196.04 370.00
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
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32 A Business Combination under common control
The Company has as a part of its management decision acquired "JK2 Restaurant" from its subsidiary "Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited" on 13
March 2024 for a purchase consideration of INR 517.37. As the transaction is a business combination under common control, the acquisition has been accounted
under the 'pooling of interests' method in accordance with Appendix C of Ind AS 103 'Business Combinations' and current year figures have been included with
effect from 10 August 2023 (date of establishment of common control on account of acquisition by SAMHI Hotels Limited). All assets and liabilities including the
reserves of the subsidiary company have been presented in these financial statements from the 10 August 2023 as summarized below:

As at
10 August 2023

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 0.66
Total non-current assets 0.66
Current assets

Inventories 1.01

Trade receivables 2831

Cash and cash equivalents 0.49

Other financial assets 1.71

Other current assets 012
Total current assets 31.64
TOTAL ASSETS 32.30
Equity

Other equity 70.12
Total equity 70.12
Non-current liabilities

Provisions (1.96)
Total non- current liabilities (1.96)
Current liabilities

Trade payables

- total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises; and -

- total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises (39.87)

Other financial liabilities (1.09)

Other current liabilities (0.66)

Provisions (0.14)
Total current liabilities (41.76)
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 26.40
Net liabilities assumed (A) 58.70
Purchase consideration transferred (B) 517.37
Adjustment for working capital (C) 0.74
Excess transferred to other equity D =(A) - (B) - (C) (459.41)

The excess of purchase consideration paid over the net assets acquired is adjusted as 'Amalgamation adjustment deficit account' in Other Equity as at 10 August
2023 in these financial statements,

32 B The Company has acquired 100% equity shares of Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited for a consideration of INR 530 93 from SAMHI Hotels Limited
(the holding company) on 29 February 2024.
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33 Capilal management
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The Company s policy 15 to mainlain a sirong capital basc so as (o maintain wnvestor, creditor and markel conlidence and o sustain future dexclopment of the business

The Board of Directors of the Tlolding company sceks to mamtamn a balance belween the higher retums that might be possible with higher levels of borrowing and the advaniages and sceuniy afforded by a sound caputal position The Company monitors
capilal using loan (o value (1.1V) method to ensure that the toan to valuc docs nal increase beyond 65% on any given reporting date al Group level Loan includes the current and non-current borrowings and Value refers (o the market capuabisation of the
Group

The Company 15 not subjeet Lo externally imposed capital requirements

As a part of 1s capital manogement policy. the Company did not have any defaults in the repaymenl of loans and micrest for the current vear The loan covenants have been tested for Duct india [otels (fyderabad) Prvate Linuted. Duet India Hotels
(Chennai) Prvate Lumted, Duct Indha (lolels (Jatpur) Praate Limited, Duct India lotels (Pune) Private Linuted, Duct India [olels (Chennar OMR) Privale Limited, Duet India otels (Ahmedabad) Prvate Limiled on consolidated basis and there have
becn no loan cot cnant defaults dunng the current year and there has been no mumation from the bank for recalling any loan facihiy

Gulng cuncern

The Company has incurred a net Toss of INR 614 98 duning the year ended 31 March 2024, has accumulaled losses of INR 1 A80 71 as at 31 March 2024 and as of thal date, the Company's current liabilities has exceeded its current asscls by INR 984 32
Based on future business projections, the Company expects growth 1n 1ls operations and improved operating performance 1n coming penods and also expects 1o eam enhanced cash inflows from ils operating activaties [he Company belieses such
anticipated inlernally gencrated funds from operations n fulure along with asmlable undrawn credit facihity will enable 1l lo meet 1ts future known obligations due in next year, 1n the ordmary course of busimess [lowcver, 17 a hquidity need were to anise,
the Company has access Lo requisite linancial and operational support irom SAMI 1ulels Limiled (holding company ), which should enable 1L (o meet its ongoing capstal, operating, and other fiquidily requirements

[n view of the above, the Management and Board of Directors of the Company have prepared these financial slatements on a gomg concern hasis

Disclosurcs under Micru, Small and Medium Enterpriscs Devclopment Acl, 2006 (MSMED) As al Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Bucs to micrn, vmall and medium wppliens

(1) I'he amounts remaming unpaid to micro and smail suppliers as at the end of the vear
Principal

Interest

() 'he amaunt of interest pand by Lhe buy er as per the Micro Small and Medwm Enterprises Des elopment Act, 2006 {MSMED Act, 2006) - -

(1) The amounts of the payments madc to micro and small supphers beyond the appamnted day duning each accounting vear

(1) The amount of interest due and payable for the vear of delay in making payment (which have been pard but
beyond the appointed day duning the year) bul without adding the interest specilicd under MSMED Act, 2006

(v) The amount of interest accrued and remaning unpaid al the end of cach accounting vear

(1) The amount of further interest remoimng due and pavable cven i Lhe succeeding years, unul such date when
the nterest dues as above arc aclually pad (o the small enterpnse for the purpose of disallowance as a deduclible -
expenditure under Section 23 of the MSMED Act 2006

The management has Wentfied enterpnses which hase provided goods and services Lo the Company and which quahity under the delinition of micro and small cnterpriscs, as defined under Micro, Small and Medium I:nlerpnises Development Act, 2006
(MSMED) Accordingly. the disclosure in respeet of Lhe amounts pavable Lo such enterprises as at 31 March 2024 and 3| March 2023 has been made in the financial statements based on nformation recetved and avmlable with the Company

New standards and inlerpretations, nut y et adopled

Ministry of corporate nffairs (~ MCA™) nolifies new standard or amendments (o the exsting standords under Compamies (Indian Accounung Standards) Rules as 1ssued from time lo tme For the year ended 31 March 2024, MCA has nol notified any new
slandards or amendments Lo the exisling standards applicable Lo the Compans

Ralivs as required by Schedule I11 to the Companies Acl, 2013:

Ratie In timeu®e Numeratur Denuminator 31 March 2024 31 March 2013 ! decreane e
() Ciment Rabo En tamen Total Current Asscls Totad Crarremt Liabiltics 018 073 -T5%
(b Lebel laity Rt I troes Total Horrowings Tedud Equsliy 271 041 561%
(<) Debt Service Coverage (i times % before finance Finance costs pard + Principal 530 L7l 221%
Ratio cosls, depreciation and et al bong eom

amortisalion and lax by

() Beterm on Py Beto | In % (Loss)/Protit (or the vear Average Tosal | guiw -7819% 2 12% -3788%
€1 [rade Recevables In imes Revenue from operations | Avempe Trade Hecenables 2164 16 85 28%]
iurpoves ratio
1) Trada payvables twmover [ In imes Purchuscs + Other expenses | Average Trade Payahles 620 660 5%
ratich
11 Net capital lumover In times Revenue (rom operations | Average warking copial (123 (943 87%
falus
i) Met peudil i n% (LossVProlit for the vear  |[Hesenue [rom operations <96 55% 5 ¥8%| -1742%|
11} Retiin vm Capy In% Izarmings beforc interest and [Cagital mployed  Tangible Net 2524% 4 4% A6R%,
Limmnlind flaxes Wotth = Total Horrng:

Explanations to variance in Rati

Current Raus Curent 1o is decrciaed on due 10 perease 1 hahbities on sccount of mencane m povabies perainmg w purchase of estinent and seguiainn of busmess
Db guse Ravo The atrvase 10 debt eiguits exibo is on seoont of dechiee u wial equity of the Crinpany dus v oo ensatid fioe enpasrement of i edmenl i curant v
Ixeht Senie Cinetige Inercie in dubd seniee cinermie ko 18 on seour o isereeis in carnues befine finance costs. depreciation atd aniortsition and L

Bistumm vn Fouiy Ratin [ The Comyuns s 1a incrcasad duc o ca voar
Trade Hivenables (umoser| The increase 1s on account ol merease in revenue dunng the current y ear

i

[rade payables lumover | Since the vananee 1s less than 25% there 1s no requirement (o disclose the reason

bl

Nel camial lumover mto [ The increase 15 on account of inerease in revenue dunng the current year

Nt prudit st 12 Comapany’s s 18 ingreasad due o poosiun creatid (oe angasrmiont of woestiment 1 gurrent s car
Hetum oa Cagilal Ricturn on eapelal emphoved fas Been mprovad due by mensise o opetaling atgin du thic veas

Ihe Company has nol prusented the lollowing ratios duc lo the reasons g en below

(1) Imentory turnover ratio- Since the proportion of such tventory value s insignificant 1o Lolal assels
(2) Return on myvestments Since the Company tnsests surplus lemporany funds in short-term bank deposits and the income generated (fom it 1s nsignificant Lo tolal revenue
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39 [he Company 1n carher years had availed custom duly exempions under Lhe 1:vport Promotion Capial Goods Scheme (EPCG) of Ministry of Commerce and Industry, Govemnment of Indra Under the Scheme, the Campany was required Lo fulfil an evport
abligalian over a pertod of six o elght years from the date of svarling the benefit Dunng FY 2019-20, the department had revaked Fixed deposits amounting to INR 26 92 given as bank puarantee agmnst duty saved by the Company as 1t dul not fullil the
required export obligation The Company has recerved back INR 6 08 during the year ended 31 March 2021 and the management beficx cs that conswlering the export resenue carned by the Company 1s sufficient Lo discharge the expart obligations required
10 be fuliilled by the Compans, 1t will recover back Lhe balance amount of INR 20 84 (31 March 2023 — INR 20 84)

For the licenses. where the Company fullils 1ts export obligations aller considering iis lorcign exchange camings, it unwinds deferred gotcrment gront res enue based on liling of application for Export Obligation Discharge Certificates (EODC) Duning
the vear. the Company has filed application for OICs amounung to INR 7 04 and accordingly has recogmised an income of INR 704 (31 March 2023 - INR Nil and 1s camying a deferred government grant revenue of INR 1+ 89 (31 March 2023 - INR
21 93)as at reporung date

Alsa considenng the delass in filing requisite documents by the Company with the department and non receipl of FODCs, the management considers 1t prudent lo accrue mierest on all utthised 1:PCG heenses against which the Campany has not filed
applecations and recerved EOLICs (fom the department. Accordimgly, the Company has further acerued an mterest of INR 0 20 durmg Lhe vear (31 March 2023 - INR 24 06) and has recorded the same as provision for contmgency of INR 16 44 (31 March
2023 - INR 2406 as al reporting date Further, the Company has reversed the nteresl acerued 1 earlicr years m respect o EOICs for which the have been (iled 1o INR 782 (31 March 2023 - INR Nil) tn other meome as
“Provistons/liabiliies no longer required wrilten back’

The management 1s confident that no other liabiluy will devolve upon the Company 1n this malter

3

&

Other statutory’

(1) The Company does nol have any enami properts where any proceeding has been iiliated or pending against the Company for holding any Benams property under the enam) {ransactions (Profibition) Acl, 1988 and rulcs made thereunder

(1) The Company has nol been declared as willlul defaulter by any bank or linancal Instutution or ather lender

(111} Ihe Company has not entered 1nto any transactions with companies struck ofT under section 248 of the Companies Act. 2013 or scction 560 of Companies Act, 1956

() The Company does nol have any transaclion which 15 ol recorded m the books of accounts that has been surrenderod or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as. search or sunvcy or any
other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961

() There are no charges or saislaction yet o be registered with ROC besond the statutory pertod

(v1) There are no funds which have been advanced or loancd or invested ¢erther ftom borrowed funds or share promaum or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company Lo ot i ans olher persons or enlitics, including foreign entitics

e ), with the whether recorded n wiiting or otherwase, that the Intermedrary shall direetly or indirectly fond o 1nvestm other persons or entities identulicd in any manner whatsoever {“Ullimale Beneficiancs™) by or on
behall of the Company or provide any guaraniee, secunity or the Iike to or on behall of the Ultumate Benefienes

(1) There are no funds which have been reeeved by the Company from any persons or entlics, ineluding foreipn cntines (*Funding Parties ), with the understanding, whether recorded m wrung or otherwise. thal the Company shall directly or ndarcetly
lend or mvest n ather persons or entiles wentified 10 ans manner whatsoeser (“Ulimate Bencficianes™) by ot on behall of lhe Funding Party or provide any guarantee, secunty or the like from or on behall of the Ullimate Benelicranes

(su1) The Company and the group is not a CIC as per the provisions of the Core [m estment Compamies (Resers e Bank) Directions, 2016

(1\) The Company has nol raded or insested i Crypto currency or Virtuat Currency dunng the financial year

(x) The company has complied with the number ol lay ers presenbed under section 2(97) of the Companies Act. 2013 read with Compames (Resinction on number of Layers) Rules, 2017

(1) The Compans has used the borrow mgs from bank and financial nshilutton for the specilic purpose for which 1l was taken

(A1) The Company has not entered into any seheme of arrangement which has an accounting impact on current or previaus [inancial ycar

¢} The Company has nol revalued s property, plant and equipment or mtangible assets or bolh dunng curent or presious year

(x1n) The Company 1s not required to submil quarterly returns or statements with banks Junng the current or previous year

(xv) The litle deeds of immas able property disclosed i the finaneial statements are held in Lhe name of the Company [oweser, onginal itle deeds are under lien with lender

(w1 The Company has nol granted any loans or advanees m the nature of loans to promotcrs, dircetors, KMPs and the relatcd parties (as defined under Compamies Act, 2013) exther severally or joinlly with any ather person thal are repayable on demand or
withoul specif ing any lerms or period of repay ment, excepl for loans pranted as disclosed below

Current period Previous period
Tape of burrumer Amount o i Tutal Amoun( Outstanding % of Total
Outstanding (Nominal amount)
(Nominal amaunt)
Promutors - ; - ]
4585 e 1975 IR
4585 0% 19.75 100%!

Duet [ndia Hotels (Navi Mumbat) Prvate Limited |wholly owned subsidiary of Duct India [lotels (I lvderabad) Private Limted] ¢Duet Navi Mumbar') has a Jand parcel siluated at Navi Mumbar which was allolied on lease by Maharashua Industnaol
Development Corporatiun ("MIDC') During the current year Duct Navt Mumban was in Lhe process of abtmning relevant approvals and permits from MIDC for commencing development work on the aforesaul land parcel In January 2024, Duel Navi
Mumbat has received a nolice from MIDC for lease termimation Duel Navi Mumbar has filed a wnit petiion agamst the aforcsaid noliee before the Bombay 1ligh Court which is pending lor disposal Accordingly, bused on the above, a provision lor
imparment of my estment 1n subsidwary amounting (o INR 752 50 has been recorded 1 books in current year as an exccplional item

4

I'he Board of Directors of he Company, 1n 11s meetng held on 23 March 2024, approscd the Scheme ol amalgamatien for the merger of Duet India [otels (3angatore) Pvale Limited ('Lhe Transferor Company') with Ducl Indua [lotels (ITyderabad) Prvale
Limited ('the Transferee Company’) with ellect [rom the appointed dale (1e 29 February 2024) for the purpose off mmpln\ tng the management struclure, busimess procsses. belter adminisiration, reduction in cosls resulling from synergies of operattonal
elTorts and slandardisation The smd Scheme 1s subject Lo approval (rom the regulatony Iy, no cfleet of this merger scheme has been made in these finaneal satements

4
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Code on Social Sccurity, 2020

the Code on Social Secunity, 2020 (“the Code’) relatng lo employee benefils receved Presidental assent on 28 Seplember 2020 The Mimsiny of Labour and Imployment has releascd draft rules for the Code on 13 November 2020 and nviled
Irom Lhe stakehol The dale of of Lhe Code 15 yet 1o be nolilied by the Government and when implemented will impact the contnbutions by i Company towards benelits such as Provident Fund, Gratuity ete: The Compaony

will assess the ympact of the Code and g e effect in the [inancial statements when ihe Code and Rules thereunder are noiticd

In earher vears, the Company had engaged with a sersce provider for assisting in hotel renovabions The service protider mutinted arbitration proceedings for recovery of above amounts and the management filed a counter claim dispuling serviee provider s
claims on account of delay and tack of submission of cosl details and saving ansing out of the ellorts of serviee provider [hi Company was carrying a provision for expeeted lability 1n this repard on a prudent basis umounting o INR 13 22 as at 31 March

£

<

2023 During the current vear, a seltlement agreement has been exceuted with the service provider for a full and final scul of dues. 1o INR 5 80 », the provision of INR 4 69 (net of advances ol INR 2 73) has been
reversed m the Statement of Profit and Loss under “Provision / liabililics no longer required wntlen back ™ dunng the current vear

Ihe notes lrom nole 1 1o nole 43 form an integral part of thesc financial stalemenls

As per our report ol even date attached

For BSR & Co. LLP For and on behalf of Board of Directors of

Chartered lecountants Duet India Hotels (fsileratind) Privote Limited

ICAL Firm Registration No - 101 248W/W-100022

Aot el Simagd iy vk o

Ankush Goel Simranjbet Singh Nitika Jain

Pariner = Director Director Compam Secretary
Membership No 505121 DIN 07886515 [DIN 08083337 Membership No- 57338
Place Gurugram Jisce Gurugrany Place Gurugram Place Gurugram

Date 29 Mav 2024 Ihate 29 May 2024 Date 29 May 2024 Dawe 29 Mas 2024




